

A Reader – LWF Thirteenth Assembly theme



A Reader – LWF Thirteenth Assembly theme

Contents

Introduction5
Topics
One Body, One Spirit, One Hope: The Breath of the Spirit and Bible Reading in Africa
Body, Spirit, Hope, and Being a Communion27 Jerzy Sojka
"Life Breath" as a Tangible Symbol of God's Grace. Markers of Theology of the Body and Embodied Justice
Solus Spiritus and Sola Experientia: Dalit Feminist Lutheran Pneumatology – Hope in Double Pandemic Context45 Nelavala Gnana Prasuna
The Spirit Renews: A Caribbean Perspective on Unity in Church and Society 59 Daniëlle Dokman
The Spirit Poured Out on All flesh. Perspectives for an Embodied Ecological Ecumenism of Hope
Finding Hope in an Eco-Anxious, Climate-Grieving World
The Body and Spirit of Reconciled Diversity. Unity beyond Uniformity, Hierarchy, and Anthropocentrism. A Sámi perspective
Appendix

Introduction

This volume narrates contextual experiences written by church members of The Lutheran World Federation (LWF) in connection with the theme of the Thirteenth Assembly of the LWF. The theme "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope" and the sub-themes, "The Spirit Creates, The Spirit Reconciles, The Spirit Renews," is captured in this volume from different angles in the seven regions of the LWF. It presents various constructive hermeneutical approaches, theological practices, and theological proposals intended to deepen and develop theological insights in a Lutheran perspective, insights that are transformative in relation to contemporary contextual realities.

"Transformative" because the Lutheran theological legacy is always responding and interpreting in context. It doesn't remain static. Secondly, transformative because the Gospel is always liberating, changing human lives in the midst of the ever-changing world and its challenges. Thirdly, transformation is a call to the church globally, guided by the Holy Spirit who creates, reconciles, and renews to act against injustices, exclusion, suffering, climate change, and hopelessness. Transformation in this volume means that all creation is called by the Triune God to renewal in a reconciled diversity grounded in hope. The transformative theological perspectives developed in this volume challenge Lutheran theology to revisit its positions through contextual experiences as a main criterion, allowing the Gospel to speak in every context and situation. With the ongoing postmodern decentering of universals, especially of European discourses, the authors discern a grammar or code that "transcends" the particularity of its founding context.

The papers collected here demonstrate that there are central dynamics in Lutheran theology that are continually deconstructing, challenging, and provoking the church to think beyond certain well-established categories or the tendency to domesticate, or tame, faith. God's purpose is glimpsed in this work of deconstruction from the margins.

The articles in this volume develop constructive theological responses to at least five core concerns of the Thirteenth Assembly theme.

- (1) The role of the Holy Spirit in inspiring Scripture and illuminating its reading.
- (2) The meaning of communion in the midst of a growing awareness of plurality or reconciled diversity, which sometimes is feared as a threat to unity.
- (3) The problems of exclusion which create marginalization, racism, oppression, gender-based violence, and wars.
- (4) The tendency to separate God's creative act from God's redemptive act, or human beings from the rest of creation.
- (5) The call to care for God's creation, the whole cosmos, in view of reconciliation and for future generations.

Jean Koulagna deployed "Sola Scriptura" and the hermeneutics of "Law and Gospel" to argue that unity is not uniformity but is revealed in plurality giving rise to contextual biblical hermeneutics as diverse as they are important in reading and understanding scripture. Such a method helps the reader to be creative, constructive, and critical. Connecting with the Assembly of the LWF, Koulagna affirms that the Holy Spirit inspires the scriptures, animates, nourishes, and renews the church through the reading of these scriptures. However, the different contexts of reading – namely academic contexts, socio-historical contexts, economic, political, and cultural contexts – are all places in which the Spirit translates the divine Word and actualizes our relationship to Scripture.

Jerzy Sojka takes the LWF Seventh LWF Assembly in Central and Eastern Europe (Budapest 1984) as his starting point. The Budapest Assembly confirmed the journey from a federation to a communion for the LWF. Sojka explores the importance of being a *communio*. He looks for answers in the theme of the Thirteenth Assembly" One Body, One Spirit, and One Hope," building on the confessional proposal for Church as constituted by preaching the Gospel and administering the sacraments according to the Gospel. Sojka also draws upon the LWF's understanding of *communio* as a gift and task linked to mission, diakonia, or ecumenical commitment. Finally, he asks questions about the importance of one body, one Spirit, and one hope in the practice of being *communio*.

For Evangeline Anderson-Rajkumar, the theme of the Thirteenth General Assembly "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope," reflects the urgency for the church to engage diligently in the healing of a wounded body at a time when the world has witnessed dire situations of brokenness, pain, disease, and death due to the pandemic of racism and the spread of COVID-19. Narrating the tragedy of one human being taking away the breath of a fellow human being based on race (George Floyd) in May 2020 in Minneapolis, USA, Anderson-Rajkumar highlights the importance of discerning the Holy Spirit: There is no life, no breath, no life-breath without the presence of this Spirit. She calls the Lutheran Church globally to advocate for the hope that is not abstract but experienced as shared energy invigorating a people's movement to rise up and protest, to speak up and speak out against injustices.

Nelavala Gnana Prasuna narrates stories of Dalit women in India and how COVID-19 brought a second layer of oppression. Drawing on Martin Luther's statement *sola experientia facit theologum* (only experience makes a theologian), Prasuna suggests *sola experientia* to work with *solus Spiritus* for the aim of constructing a Dalit feminist Lutheran pneumatology aiming to liberate marginalized groups in Indian communities.

Daniëlle Dokman depicts the oppression experienced by Indigenous people and Africans trafficked through slavery in Suriname. These peoples reduced to slavery suffered oppression by being uprooted, displaced, divided, beaten, forced to work under severe conditions, and branded on their skin like cattle. Churches were loyal to the traffickers because the slave trade mission intended to raise the economy of the colonies. Looking at the theme of the Assembly, Dokman calls the LWF to employ its resources to grow into an ever-deeper communion in the midst of its diversity. Using Paul's teachings on the role of the Holy Spirit in Romans 8:2, Dokman calls for the Holy Spirit who brings about freedom for those in bondage by sin and death. She concludes thus: "For this is our hope and assurance - communal living, freedom, and trust are gifts of the hovering Spirit, that lingers over our society reconnecting with everything uprooted and displaced, unifying the divided and diverse pieces into a mosaic, and recalibrating destructive narratives into life-giving imperatives."

Claudia Jahnel, using discourse theory and body phenomenology theories, shows how racism and violence against nature is articulated in communities. She includes stories from Female Afro-Futurism and from struggles for the agency of the future generation as well as of the Earth. Jahnel contends that Christians need to deal with ecological changes and all their disastrous consequences not in a sterile and autocratic-dystopic way, but rather in a humane way, a way that is faithful to dreams and to the value of justice and solidarity, a way that is committed in particular to future generations and to the survival of the earth. Connecting with the theme of the Assembly, "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope," Jahnel sees a tension between "the one" (body, spirit, hope) and the "many", i.e., between "unity" and "diversity." She suggests an embodied theology of the cross, an enfleshed pneumatology, and a theology of hope that thrives on a creative uncertainty and surprise. An embodied and enfleshed Spirit will require an epistemology that is sensitive and creative in uncertain certainty, affected and encouraged in an ecological ecumene that includes human and non-human agents.

Szabolcs Nagy demonstrates how an effect of the environmental crisis is eco-anxiety. Eco-anxiety brings, among other things, chronic diseases among children, youths, and communities with the fewest resources on the one hand, and depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, suicide, and the like on the other. Connecting with the theme of the Assembly, Nagy suggests that a theology of God's providence and communal responsibility is key in fighting against environmental destruction and is one way to bring hope for communities devastated by climate change. Through hope and communal responsibility, a climate-grieving world will find the resurrected God present in the world and realize that all humans are not alone in their suffering nor in their hopeful efforts.

Tore Johnsen advocates for reconciled diversity as the work of the Holy Spirit in creating "unity" which is beyond "uniformity," hierarchy, and anthropocentrism. In order to live into unity in reconciled diversity, LWF member churches need to decolonize their theology and recognize where hierarchy creeps in and contains to marginalize certain expressions of Christianity, thus dividing the one body of Christ. He provides examples of Luther's struggle between "hierarchy" and "equality." And then, using the Indigenous (Sámi) experience of forced assimilation in Scandinavia as a lens for exploring the assembly theme, Johnsen indicates that unity in a reconciled diversity will lead to a cosmic hope. This cosmic hope can be

learned from Indigenous people. To proclaim hope is to point towards the "unity of all things." It is to point towards the Holy Spirit who creates, reconciles, and renews.

Topics

Baptism

The overall theme, "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope," derives from the early baptismal confessions (Eph 4:1-7) in the second half of the 1st century (Koulagna). Baptism is also the base of church communion as well in the New Testament as in present churches, even though there are minor doctrinal differences on it among denominations. Baptism as a call to a life change makes a person new and carries within itself the promise of salvation, which requires faith, and the faith in it leads to sanctification lived in the fulfilment of one's vocation in the world to serve others in love (Sojka). Baptism is, therefore, a source of hope. Dokman connects the individual baptism to the internal and external communion of the Trinity.

Body / Bodies

It should be noted that the word "body" throughout the volume is used in at least four different connotations: First, it means the (mostly suffering) individual body of a person. Second, it can be used collectively for a community (even beyond human bodies) as a body. Third, it refers to the Pauline metaphor of the "body of Christ." And fourth, this "body" is identified with the church. Many of these aspects are present in the Lord's Supper (Sojka) as the Spirit animates the body. "Body" is part of the word "everybody", so the protesting community after the murder of George Floyd formed a body that experienced the humiliation in their own bodies. A "body theology" should allow for the fact that desanctifying one body (especially a body that is perceived as different) often desecrates a larger community. Similarly, new life is the hope of the broken body as well as that of the wounded community. "Embodied justice" and body theology mean not the least remembering the memory of the broken body (Anderson-Rajkumar), especially where colonial ideology is still embodied in preaching as in the Caribbean (Dokman) or in parts of Africa where especially the Black female body is subject to exploitation (Jahnel). Jahnel extends that thought even to non-human bodies. The Holy Spirit wants to restore the brokenness of the world in the One Body of reconciled diversity (Johnsen). This body is, therefore, aimed at unity, not at uniformity.

Colonialism

In many parts of the world, the situation of churches, their practices and theology reflect colonial history (Koulagna), most obvious in the Atlantic slave states where the colonial plantation system influenced the minds of both superiors and slaves, the colonial imperatives shaping the reality even after slavery (Dokman). Johnsen

shows that the same – endowing the colonizing power with divine legitimacy – is true for the Nordic Lutheran churches with respect to the Sámi people. Both authors call for a decolonializing rewriting of Lutheran theology.

COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic questions our understanding of the body anew, not least as to physical presence in worship (Sojka). As a suddenly emerging danger for the body, it is somewhat a counter-image to the constant and prevailing pandemic of racism (Anderson-Rajkumar). Prasuna parallels the virus with the "caste virus" and shows the double pandemic effect of COVID-19 for the Dalits: They are on the one hand further brutalized; on the other hand, it can be an opportunity to develop new chances.

Creation

The Spirit is at work in creation and ever since (Anderson-Rajkumar; Prasuna). Creation is also the object of oppression and marginalization (Dokman). We are, therefore, called to search for epistemologies that are subversive and liberating and further compassion with the whole creation (Jahnel). Nagy points to the hope that lies in the messianic prophesies of a "new earth and new heaven" (e.g., Isa 65) and reminds us that in God's creation "everything is interconnected," so suffering and "groaning" is never simply individual but always interwoven with creation itself. It is our responsibility to care for creation of which we are a part, suffering with it as a result of sin. These aspects are seen by Johnsen under the perspective of diversity of creation that is violated by uniformity projects.

Decolonialization \leftrightarrow colonialism Ecology

Jahnel calls for an "embodied ecological ecumenism of hope." In view of the ecological and social crisis, the challenges should be met by an embodied theology of the cross, an enfleshed pneumatology, and a theology of hope that furthers creative uncertainty and the readiness of being surprised. Such an ecological ecumene includes human and non-human agents. Nagy draws our attention to "eco-anxiety" to which hope is the theological response that – after repentance – enables the church to new stances that transform and inspire a new social imaginary. An example of an integral ecology is Pope Francis' encyclical *Laudato si*'.

Experience

Apart from the many references to experiences of reality and suffering / violence, of baptism, the experience of Christian life the experience and doings of the Holy Spirit, it is two contributions in this volume that make "experience" a theological

category: Anderson-Rajkumar calls for memory and experience of bodies like that of George Floyd as a critical lens for the theological analysis of articulation of a body theology and embodied justice. She sees this history of experiences as a primary source thereof. Prasuna adds "experientia" as a fifth sola to the well-known solae and exemplifies this with the experiences of Indian Dalits, especially Dalit women, under the caste system to construct a "Dalit feminist Lutheran pneumatology" that provides hope. Jahnel starts from the bodily experiences of oppression and suffering (identified with the crucified God) to call for a liberation theology (e.g., as ecotheology) that discloses experiences of God's mercy.

Freedom

The Holy Spirit confers freedom as it animates the church, inspired the scriptures, and illuminates their reading (Koulagna). Freedom is part of the duality in our personhood: As *imago Dei* we are created in a dual primordial nature: personal freedom and reciprocal relationship (cf. the doctrine of Trinity). The Holy Spirit frees us from sin and death (Rom 8:2); true freedom can be regulated and restricted by fellow human beings, but never be given by them. The abolition of slavery did thus in fact lift the restrictions for the unfree, but it did not give freedom in the full sense that only the Holy Spirit can give (Dokman).

Gift

As is often the case, when it comes to "gift," church communion is on the one hand a gift that lives from God's gift, on the other, a task. Communion – *koinonia* – is a gift that is worked by the Holy Spirit (Sojka). Life breath that God blew into Adam's nostrils as a gift of grace is the gift of the Spirit as well through which God grants us to be the *imago Dei*. In Christ we receive the gift of forgiveness through his body and blood (Anderson-Rajkumar). Dokman insists that "freedom" is a gift of the triune God, that cannot be arbitrary nor be given by our fellow humans. Unity as proclaimed in the Letter of Paul to the Ephesians is a gracious gift and transformative reality that we are invited to participate in (Johnsen).

Identity

Identity – of individuals or of groups – may challenge unity. These conflicts, however, belong ultimately to the historical and, therefore, human identity of the church (Koulagna). "One body, One spirit, One hope" is a response to such historical conflicts. Identities are transcended if bodies come together to cry out against inhuman treatment of color as happened after the George Floyd incident (Anderson-Rajkumar). The attention to the body and an embodied theology of the cross strengthens the agency and identity of those who suffer oppression and violence (Jahnel).

Language

The Spirit expresses itself in different languages (Koulagna) that represent their respective cultures. Language (e.g., androcentric, colonial) itself can, therefore, convey attitudes and cement structures. As it can liberate on the other hand, the church must be aware of the language she uses and aim at non-dehumanizing language (Prasuna). The oppression of people is often accompanied with the prohibiting of their native language (Dokman). This is exemplified also by Johnsen as to the Sámi language.

Narratives

Stories (like that of George Floyd) are to be located in the larger narratives of a culture that form that community's attitudes towards people and the rules according to which people are treated (Anderson-Rajkumar). Biblical narratives criticize such oppressing narratives (Prasuna), as they explain the way the Holy Spirit is connected to everyday life and portray it as life giver. Dokman shows how the narratives of the plantation society impact on oppressor and oppressed and demonstrates their long-term continuity until this very day. Such narratives must be contested by analyzing the deficiencies in their anthropology in the light of the trinitarian *imago Dei* concept as well as by communal means of trust. Jahnel mentions the end of the "great universal narrative" which is the narrative of "scientific" and "secular" modernity. She explores the possibilities of different narratives from different backgrounds empowering each other. A similar argument is brought forward by Johnsen who speaks about the interwoven national and Lutheran narratives in the confessional Lutheran states of Scandinavia to be rewritten from a Sámi perspective.

Postcolonial ↔ colonialism Resistance

Signs of hope emerge not only with signs of victory, but resilience and resistance against abusive powers (Anderson-Rajkumar). Filled with the Spirit, Elizabeth can resist conventions and thus calls the church to resist patriarchal influences and to become an agent of restoration (Prasuna). Johnsen points out that the teaching on God's Word in the mother tongue is a means of resisting uniforming policy.

Truth

In Biblical and theological hermeneutics, truth combines criticism and conviction, rigor and submission, enabling the faithful thus to a fruitful interaction between subjectivity and objectivity that enriches faith (Koulagna). The personified body of truth, $d\lambda \eta \theta \epsilon_{I\alpha}$ (alētheia), gets crushed when it is crammed with lies. This should be avoided by a "body theology" and "embodied justice" (Anderson-Rajkumar).

With respect to doing justice to Sámi voices, Johnsen reminds us about governmental truth and reconciliation commissions.

Unity vs. Uniformity

Church unity as main overall topic of the Thirteenth Assembly is an affirmation and an imperative that both derive from the sola scriptura through the Holy Spirit, as Ephesians shows. It is, however, an undeniable fact that there were from the beginning to this day different factors that challenged this unity. It is the Holy Spirit and the common spirit that make unity in plurality real (Koulagna). Sojka refers to the postulate of unity in word and sacrament when asking for "communion" and "community" as identifying markers of the LWF – the word of God both creating and affirming unity and diversity. Women like Mary and Elizabeth proclaimed God's justice and blessings in unity by reversing the existing order (Prasuna). Dokman recalls that in a slave society, unity in diversity is a danger for the colonist that needs to be fought by all means. The tension between "the one" and the many should make us respond with engagement in planetary solidarity (Jahnel). From the example of assimilation policies in the Nordic states, Johnsen shows that enforced unity often distorts the uniqueness of "the Others" as they are forced into uniformity with the majority group. This goes against "the unity of the spirit" that is manifested through the bond of peace. Therefore, "unity in diversity" is often hampered by hierarchical, non equalitarian structures. Johnsen calls for a unity beyond anthropocentrism – "the unity of all things."

Worship

The Holy Spirit gathers the communion of the church and ensures its unity. By gathering at the service, we gather to experience the Word and submit ourselves to the work of the Holy Spirit (Sojka).

Preliminary questions for engaging with the Assembly theme

What are your experiences of imposed uniformity? Who carry the costs of imposed uniformity in your context?

Luther's definition of sin as the self curved in upon itself (incurvatus in se) offers a tool for critical discernment of the spirit of social, collective, or systemic realities. What demands attention in your context?

One of the authors argues that the one body is about restoring the dignity and wholeness of God's diverse creation. In what ways is the reconciled diversity of God's people both a gift and a task?

Who, in your context, is expected to embrace their own oppression for the sake of peace?

How is "the bond of peace" manifested in your congregations and neighborhoods; in your homes, classrooms, and workplaces; in your societies, nations, and in the global community?

One of the authors argues for peace beyond imposed hierarchy. What are the strengths and limitations of this perspective for a Christian understanding of the one body, the bond of peace, and the Spirit?

How, in your context, might one engage in a critical rereading of Lutheran theology from the underside of history?

What are the gifts of the Spirit in bridging the gap between God's promised peace and the realities of the world?

How do you navigate the relationship between your Lutheran faith and the urgency of climate change and the environmental crisis? What resources do you draw upon? What do you find problematic? For what do you long?

What are the links between reconciliation with the earth and reconciliation with Indigenous peoples?

One Body, One Spirit, One Hope: The Breath of the Spirit and Bible Reading in Africa

Jean Koulagna

Evangelical Lutheran Church of Cameroon Al Mowafaqa Institute, Rabat, Morocco

1. Introductory remarks: sola scriptura and the challenge of church unity

The overall theme of the Thirteenth Assembly of The Lutheran World Federation (LWF), "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope," is derived from the early baptismal confessions of the church in the second half of the first century. It emphasizes church unity and recalls this unity as both an affirmation and an imperative. The subthemes, "The Spirit creates, the Spirit reconciles, the Spirit renews," underline the vocation and witness of the church, for herself and for the world. The one church, animated by the Holy Spirit who is one, is called to hope and to give hope to creation in a renewed world. This is, in substance, the declaration of this assembly.

This is clearly a pneumatological statement, and the whole reflection of this assembly will, needless to say, be concerned with the role that the Spirit plays in the various expressions and contexts of the church's witness. This study will also focus on the exegetical and hermeneutical aspects of this question, because the Spirit who animates the church is also the one who inspired the Scriptures (2 Tim 3:16) and who, in principle, enlightens their reading. In other words, the present study will put into dialogue the normativity of the principle of *sola scriptura* on the one hand, and the freedom conferred by the Holy Spirit in the understanding and implementation of this same principle on the other.

The Spirit who animates the church is also the Spirit who inspired the Scriptures (2 Tim 3:16) and who, in principle, illuminates their reading.

The sixteenth-century reformers insisted on the centrality of these Scriptures as the supreme authority for guiding the church's decisions and actions. They proclaimed this in the slogan of *sola scriptura*, which Luther understood especially in the sense of normative Scripture, that is, supreme authority. This does not mean that other authorities – symbols of faith, writings of the fathers, decisions of the church, et cetera – are abandoned or ignored, but that they are all to be evaluated through the prism of Scripture and subjected to it. One of the theoretical consequences of this supremacy of Scripture would be a stronger affirmation of the church unity. In other words, the principle of *sola scriptura* is an essential condition for the unity of the body and its hope, because one Spirit inspires Scripture and animates the body.

Yet, church history is marked by divisions, many of which are the result of theological divergences generated by conflicts of interpretation of these very Scriptures. These conflicts proved to be of various kinds: literal versus allegorical interpretation, structural versus historical-critical approaches, scholarly versus confessional approaches, reading contexts, and so forth. The contexts, which also determine our reading of the Bible, can be confessional, historical, cultural, sociopolitical. The historical challenge of church unity is thus linked to exegesis and hermeneutics, and it is the breath of the Spirit that animates the church and irrigates the reading of the Scriptures that accompanies Christian congregations in this challenge. In the church of the first century as well as in the church of the twenty-first century, in the Church of Ephesus as well as in the Church of Africa and of other continents, this Spirit creates the church, reconciles the readings of the Word and renews the hopes of the world.

2. From Ephesus to the universal church: exegetical and historical questions

The Epistle to the Ephesians is part of the so-called captivity epistles (Eph 3:1; 4:1) and intends therefore to be taken as a personalized correspondence, especially since the apostle Paul, according to the testimony of the Acts of the Apostles and that of the first letter to the Corinthians, knows the Church of Ephesus well (Acts 18-20; 1 Cor 15:32; 16:8). Some elements, however, raise questions. We note that the epistolary elements, notably the exchanges between the author and his addressees, are reduced to a strict minimum, contrary to what we can note in the letter to the Ephesians closer to the one addressed to the Colossians (Col 1:6-8) and gives the impression that the author does not know his addressees personally: he merely mentions that he has heard about their faith (Eph 1:15). These epistolary elements seem to serve as a cover and are obviously derived from the letter to the Colossians.

In view of these observations, most exegetes classify the epistle to the Ephesians as Deutero-Pauline. Beyond the controversy that this classification may raise with the supporters of the Pauline authenticity of this letter, it allows us to underline the fact that this letter has a greater scope. It can be seen as more general, a kind of circular addressed to the churches of the last decades of the first century or, at least, to the churches of Asia Minor of that time, and hence more broadly to the universal church. In this sense, the message to the Church of Ephesus is a message to the universal church, beyond space and time.

Let us put the theme back into its literary context of Ephesians 4:1-7.

I therefore, the prisoner in the Lord, beg you to lead a life worthy of the calling to which you have been called, with all humility and gentleness, with patience, bearing with one another in love, making every effort to maintain the unity of the Spirit in the bond of peace. There is one body and one Spirit, just as you were called to the one hope of your calling, one Lord, one faith, one baptism, one God and Father of all,

who is above all and through all and in all. But each of us was given grace according to the measure of Christ's gift.

This passage implies a situation of conflict, division, or at least a threat of division. Nothing is said about the nature of the conflict, but the exhortations in verses 1 through 3 clearly allude to internal tensions and recall the crisis of charisms in 1 Corinthians 12. These exhortations are found with variations in Colossians 3:12-13 and Philippians 2:1-4. The intertextual dialogue between these different passages gives a picture of the challenges to unity that run through the whole church of the second half of the first century and beyond. The splits may be due to theological differences, conflicts of authority (1 Cor 3:4), clashes of cultures (Jews vs. Gentiles: Rom 10:12; Gal 3:28; Col 3:11. Hebrews vs. Hellenists: Acts 6:1), class conflicts (slaves vs. free men: Gal 3:28), and so forth. They ultimately belong to the historical, and therefore human, identity of the church.

"One body, one Spirit...one hope," in this context, is a response to this historical situation. It is almost a creed, found in various forms throughout the New Testament, from the Pauline tradition to the gospels (Mt 23:8-10) and the so-called Catholic epistles (James 2:19). It is the essential content of the faith of the early church that is expressed, in a context where the young church had to face headwinds, both from the outside (contact with the religious currents of the time, various aggressions) and from the inside. In other words, it is the affirmation of the fundamental faith with insistence on church unity by virtue of the uniqueness both of the Spirit and of the vocation, which implies a unity of spirit, since there is but one unique hope.

The Greek term $\dot{\epsilon}\nu\dot{\delta}\tau\eta\varsigma$ (*henotes*), which can translate as "unity" and also as "union," is a neologism formed from $\dot{\epsilon}\nu$ (*hen*, "one"). It is extremely rare, not only in the Bible (only in Eph 4:3, 13), but also in all Hellenistic literature. The idea, as we have seen, is at the heart of the church's concerns. In the Nicene-Constantinopolitan symbol of faith, this unity of the church is closely associated with the Holy Spirit.

3. Plurality, social issues: a common hope?

As we have seen, since the beginning, the challenge of the unity of the Christian church emerged on several levels: theological, ethnical-cultural (Jews-Gentiles, Hebrews-Hellenists), social (slaves-free, men-women). Over the centuries, these challenges have become more diverse and complex on the basis of confessional, ethnocultural or racial, social, and other factors.

The confessional cleavages in Africa and in the Christian communities that emerged from the missionary efforts of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries appear essentially as products of the import of missionary and colonial history. African Christians, apart from those of Egypt and Ethiopia who have a two-thousand-year history, define themselves as Roman Catholics, traditional Protestants with all the denominational nuances, Pentecostals with their own nuances, and so forth, to which must be added the followers, who are increasingly numerous, of independent churches and movements.

Apart from the latter cases, denominational affiliations are generally the result of the reproduction on the mission fields of the antagonisms of the Western churches. Most of the faithful do not even know why they are Catholic, Lutheran, Reformed, or Baptist, except that they were born in churches that carry these labels or, for the first generations, that the missionary told them they were that. African Christianity has thus inherited denominational cleavages that it carefully maintains without assuming their history, even though fruitful ecumenical approaches are taking place in Europe, where these cleavages first appeared.

Adding to these divisions, often within each church itself, are ethnic and cultural or racial questions. Ethnic tensions are not exclusive to the churches, but generally characterize the nation-states born of the given colonial situation in the second half of the twentieth century. Nor are they a particular characteristic of the churches of modern missions. They can be found almost everywhere, in various forms, and can be explained by cultural differences, with the whole question of inculturation and related issues, but also by group interests, notably related to the sharing and control of the benefits generated by the ecclesiastical institution and to leadership. At a broader level, there is the issue of race. There were Black and White churches in North America and in South African apartheid, both in the Protestant and Catholic communities. This racial categorization of the churches is due to the history of slavery and segregation, which gives these churches a definite political character.

Let us emphasize the social factors: poverty, class, gender, among others. From her birth, the church has been confronted with social issues. The vast majority of ancient society was poor, slaves were very numerous. In the Roman Empire, they made up two-thirds of the population. The position of women was unenviable there. The texts of the Old and New Testaments testify to this situation. In writing that "There is no longer Jew or Greek, there is no longer slave or free, there is no longer male and female" (Gal 3:28), Paul hopes that the Christian faith will put an end to social barriers based on ethnicity, social status, and gender.

But while he exemplifies the abolition of ethnic differences through his mission, Paul did little to fight slavery and continued to encourage women to maintain their status. Such inequalities, as can be seen, run throughout church history. They are visible within communities (rich and poor in the pews), between churches and communities (rich churches with the poor), and in the caste traditions of some settings, as well as in other local factors – the list is endless.

Added to this are the fragilities inherent to forced migration, which is a major issue in today's world, whether economic or linked to violence or disasters: being one body and sharing a common hope with strangers, especially with those who have not willingly chosen to leave their usual place of residence, their home, and who have not been invited. Although the passage in Ephesians 4 does not explicitly allude to this, it would not be wrong to say that such a situation was not unknown to the Church of Ephesus. As a Greek port city in the Roman province of Asia (in present-day Turkey), Ephesus must have seen a daily influx of new arrivals, whether for commercial or other reasons: slavery or other forms of deportation, but perhaps also a search for some form of security.

This feature is not exclusive to Ephesus. It must have been a general situation throughout the Roman Empire. Even the ideal community of Jerusalem described

in Acts 2:42-47 bears the marks of the problems posed by the management of foreigners and migrants. Indeed, it is in this same community that the wives of the Hellenists complain about the unequal distribution of food, forcing the emerging early church to set up the ministry of deacons, who all happen to be Hellenists, Jews of Greek language and culture (Acts 6), the first victims of the large-scale persecutions (Acts 8), and responsible in spite of themselves for the rapid spread of the nascent Christian faith throughout the empire.

All these factors question and constantly challenge the unity of body and Spirit as well as the unity of hope. The question therefore remains: In what condition does the church witness to the unity of the Spirit and her own body and how does she realize her hope? What is the meaning that her hope implies? How does the church construct the common history of her identification with this unique body and this common hope? How does she manage to express in a coherent way the unity of spirit (with a small s), that is, of her thought and teaching in this great diversity of her contexts and challenges? It is obvious, for example, that the hope of the poor starts with a hope for better life conditions, which is certainly the case for the rich. The same is true between members of a church who belong to different castes, or between wealthy churches and those struggling to survive. These different contexts give different orientations to the reading of the Bible: confessional (Catholic or Protestant exegesis and hermeneutics), geographical (African, American, Asian, European, Pacific), social (liberation hermeneutics with their variants), not to mention the academic and learned readings that rub shoulders with the more confessing, even popular, ones.

4. One and plural: one Word, various contexts of listening

The Spirit blows where it wills, and it addresses the reader always in context. It is in these different contexts, sometimes contradictory and conflicting, that the Spirit allows for listening to the Word, that is, reading and interpreting the Bible. Sacred Scripture, in its quality as the divine Word, is the proclamation of salvation. The interpretation of the Bible in preaching rightly occupies an essential place in Protestant traditions. In this context, the Spirit allows a first reconciliation between scholarly readings (critical exegesis and philosophical hermeneutics) and more confessional ones.

Hans-Georg Gadamer's reflections on this subject are enlightening. For him, even if understanding in theology can have its own characteristics, the hermeneutical phenomenon in the Christian regime is not essentially different from any other experience of understanding. Thus, theological hermeneutics is from the outset thought out in and for faith. It therefore has a confessional character, and starts from the Protestant understanding of Scripture: Luther considered that the Bible is its own interpreter (*scriptura sui ipsius interpres*). In this way, biblical hermeneutics extends the principle of *sola scriptura*, the Bible being read as canonical.

Biblical hermeneutics, being theological hermeneutics, thus combines criticism and conviction, rigor and submission. The believing reader, in admitting this fact, engages in a fruitful interaction between subjectivity and objectivity, between

canonical authority and freedom of thought. He enters the intelligence of the textual network of the Scriptures (he goes from his conviction to criticism) in order to transform the proposal of meaning into an experience of truth that enriches his faith (he goes from criticism to conviction). Hermeneutics is thus situated in an all-embracing model that reduces the gap between scientific exegesis and kerygmatic reading.

The same is true of objective exegesis and contextual approaches. By contexts we mean the various situations in which the reader finds him or herself: cultural, socioeconomic, political. The prologue of John affirms that "the Word became flesh and lived among us" (Jn 1:14). This indicates that the incarnation of the Word is, in fact, a formerly unknown, new hermeneutical example that God himself brings about. Born into a Jewish family in Roman times, Jesus assumed his Jewishness together with its sociohistorical context. When he read and interpreted the writings of the Scripture of his time, the first Testament, he did so as a Jew and in the light of Jewish tradition. To all the people he came into contact with, he gave a word, to each in his own situation; he gave himself to be interpreted in the particularity of each situation. This is what constitutes, for the New Testament, the summit of revelation (Heb 1:1-2). By building his hut in the midst of us human beings (this is what is meant by the Greek expression σκηνόω έν ήμῖν [skēnoō en hemin] in John 1:14), the divine Word has delivered itself. In doing so, it assumes the risk of being misunderstood, betrayed, or caught up in a univocal perception that generates fundamentalism and extremism, but also that of provoking divisions and conflicts in the church as the result of antagonistic contextual interpretations of Scripture.

The African reading of the Bible is situated at the juncture of all these contexts, which represents a major challenge. Indeed, between the academic approaches developed in the West and those developed by Africans, often oriented toward more or less local cultural questions (comparative studies) or toward sociopolitical concerns, African biblical hermeneutics seems to be in search of its identity. Moreover, the great majority of the faithful and ordinary readers of the Bible do not understand much of these academic approaches and more or less spontaneously develop what should be called "readings from below."

These informal readings of the Bible testify to the fact that scholarly exegesis is often at odds with the spiritual expectations and fears of most of the faithful, including the most erudite. In some places, they permeate neo-Pentecostal churches and movements and extend to popular religious music and a "magical" relationship to Scripture – a fact that is neither new nor exclusive to African contexts. The practice of phylacteries in the Old Testament and ancient Judaism, for example, eventually went beyond the level of a reminder instrument to acquire a kind of performative value, and the discovery of talismans among ancient New Testament manuscripts attests to this same magical reading.

No one can describe how the Spirit animates all these approaches to the Scriptures. What can be said, however, is that it is in the plurality of contexts and approaches and beyond the conflicts of interpretation that the Holy Spirit, at once one and plural in its manifestations, enables the church to listen to this unique Word of God. Is not the Bible itself the most vibrant witness hereof? The different traditions that make up the Pentateuch and other Old Testament texts,

the reception of Deuteronomistic history by Chronicles, the Gospel in four-voiced Gospels, and so forth, show that the Spirit allows an extraordinary dynamic in the reception of divine revelation. It reconciles, so to speak, also in the diversity of its languages and of its expectations, the people of God on their way to the place of their vocation: the kingdom of God. As a result, the plurality of contexts and readings in a certain way acquires, like the principle of *sola scriptura*, another form of normativity. In this context, even confessional differences can be seen, in reverse, as contextual. The *sola scriptura* thus becomes the hermeneutical locus of unity.

5. From hermeneutics to public theology: what hope?

The question is: How does our reading of the Bible impact our action for new creation, reconciliation and hope? How does our hermeneutics address issues of inequality, poverty, the environment, insecurity, migration, culturally based conflicts, religious intolerance, the COVID-19 pandemic and the new splits it creates (increased vulnerabilities, closed borders, unequal access to vaccines), and so forth? How does the Spirit who creates and renews nourish the hope of the world in the different contexts of listening to the Word of God?

Since the late 1960s, liberation theology has championed a theology and hermeneutics oriented toward the social and political. But before it, contexts of oppression had already favored the emergence of theologies of struggle, with hermeneutics that underpinned them, even if these were not always explicit. One example is the feminist movement, whose hermeneutical reflection can be traced back to the American Women's Bible of the late-nineteenth century, and which defines itself as a hermeneutic of suspicion and audacity. It suspects the Bible, at least in some of its parts, of containing elements unfavorable to women, as can be seen in the words of Maria Pilar Aquino:

There is great interest in studying the Bible.... It contains negative remarks about women and is couched in androcentric language. These texts and traditions cannot be divinely inspired, especially when through Jesus' life and ministry we discover that God does not condone any discrimination against women.

This includes North American, Caribbean, and South African Black theologies, not to mention African and other contextual theologies that are based on a particular appropriation of the Bible. The "Declaration" of the National Committee of Black Clergy asserts that "Black theology is not the gift of the Christian gospel dispended to slaves; rather, it is an *appropriation* which black slaves made of the gospel given by their white oppressors." Many other contexts can be cited for the twentieth century. The reading of the Bible thus accompanies numerous struggles in historical situations, which has been the case since biblical times themselves. The interpretation of the Torah crosses the prophetic and sapiential literatures to make God's voice heard by the rulers and the world. Jesus, addressing the religious and political leaders of his time and place, relies on his reading of the Scriptures: "You have heard that...," "But I say to you...."

When he taught his disciples to say, in the Lord's Prayer, "Your kingdom come. Your will be done, on earth as it is in heaven" (Mt 6:10-11), Jesus was doing more than teaching a model spiritual prayer. He clearly indicated, in connection to his reading of Scripture and drawing on the sources of Pharisaic Judaism, a revolutionary sociopolitical point of view and suggested that the reigns (both political and religious) of his time and the wills they imposed were not good, or at least often were not those of God. For this reason, a new order was needed, an order that was established by God himself.

Under these conditions, contextual biblical hermeneutics and public (or political) theology operate on the same ground. Public theology encompasses the whole of biblical history from creation onward, as to unify the diversity of authors and themes in salvation history. This allows the reader to enter the story and identify with it, which in turn allows the story to be applied to one's own environment, even if that environment may be indifferent to or intolerant of the practices of the faith. In other words, biblical theology goes beyond the private confessional sphere and touches both the reader and the reader's context in their public dimensions. It makes the creative Word of God heard in the public space. Following Engelbert Mveng, for Africa, this implies first of all a claim to belong to the world of the Bible, that is, to its people and its history, and to appropriate its message.

If the incarnation of the Word implies the imminent coming of the reign of God, that is, of a more just social order, a reign where life is abundant (Jn 10:10), then the decolonization of hermeneutics is related to the struggle for life, in other words, for existence and for a reassuring, viable, and just living environment. Biblical interpretation on the African continent is firmly rooted in the struggle for land, economic justice, and cultural survival. It remains caught between the Western and African histories of colonization and the struggle for independence on the one hand, and post-independence and globalization on the other. The interpretation of the Bible in Africa is the struggle for a place to be, a home. But to fight for a home is above all to fight for independence of perception and thought. In terms of hermeneutics, it means being able to evaluate autonomously and creatively what the Bible says to me in the light of my own experience and the present, but also allowing for my own history and that of my own environment as the starting point.

At this level, Luther's reflection on the Law-Promise (or Law-Gospel) relationship in the Apology of the Augsburg Confession (art. IV) can be illuminating. This relationship has often been reduced to a simplistic distinction: this is the Law, this is the Gospel (or the Promise), and to the isolated domain of private contemplation or self-imposed spiritual exercises. Luther's reflection challenged a medieval bottom-up hermeneutic that went from text to meaning and from meaning to illumination (*illuminatio*). The Law-Promise report turns this hermeneutic upside down and affirms that God is here (with us) at war against the world (understood as the domain of the Evil One). In other words, it replaces the last term (illumination) with struggle (*tentatio*).

Consequently, we – as readers of the Scriptures – are not only invited by this relationship to a merely academic and rational distinction, but are drawn into the midst of a struggle in the present world, in our lives and around us, including in the unfulfilled desires and needs and suffering of people. The Law-Promise rela-

tionship leads to an understanding of the context of our lives (the struggle for a place) and of our role as objects in God's reclamation of the world, and hence, of each of its inhabitants, of those who have something to look forward to (a home). It is well-known today how uprooted and displaced home becomes in the face of situations that force people to migrate, with all the tragedies that this entails. We also know the deaths at sea or in the desert, the misery of people who arrive at their destination and then have to face scorn, rejection, inclemency, and all sorts of institutional obstacles that prevent them or try to prevent them from getting settled. The Law-Promise relationship brings us back to Gérard Siegwalt's idea that the scriptural principle (*sola scriptura*) can only be understood in correlation with the concrete (and historical) data of life and experience of reality.

6. Concluding remarks: reading the Bible – from the university to the church and from the church to the streets

The Holy Spirit inspires the Scriptures, animates, nourishes, and renews the church through their reading. This seems like an obvious statement that summarizes the principle of *sola scriptura* proclaimed by the reformers of the sixteenth century. However, this remains a major challenge within contemporary Protestantism and even within the Lutheran community, in Africa as well as elsewhere. The different contexts of reading – academic, sociohistorical, economic, political, and cultural – are all places in which the Spirit translates the divine Word and actualizes our relationship to Scripture and, for us Protestants, to this principle of *sola scriptura*. But they also pose the problem of interpretative frameworks that can be conflicting, threaten the unity of the body, and imply expectations that can also be conflicting.

The Spirit operates in all these contexts to reconcile the modalities of our relationship to the Bible: from church to university, from university to church, from church to the streets, that is, to society and to the whole environment in which our common hope of the reign of God is lived and unfolded. It is in the diversity of these plural, divergent, and sometimes conflicting conditions of reading and welcoming Revelation that the unity of the body of Christ is lived out. It is also by way of a correct understanding of the Law-Promise relationship in a hermeneutical context – in other words, that the Gospel involves the struggle for a just world where everyone inherits the earth and has a home – that the common hope can be experienced and lived. This is where the Lord's Prayer is fulfilled: "Your kingdom come. Your will be done, on earth as it is in heaven. Give us this day our daily bread."

Unity, as is well known, is not uniformity; it has meaning only in plurality. It is there that the breath of the Spirit works the miracle of the unity of the church and of its vocation, that of living and bringing to life the hope of a constantly renewed world, including homes in movement and the societal recompositions that they orchestrate.

Bibliography

- "Apologie de la Confession d'Augsbourg." In *La foi des* églises *luthériennes: confessions et catéchismes*, edited by A. Birmelé and M. Lienhard, 101–248. Paris: Éditions du Cerf, 1991.
- "Black Theology. Statement by the National Committee of Black Churchmen, June 13, 1969." In *Black Theology. A Documentary History, 1966–1979*, edited by J. Cone and G. Wilmore, 100–102. New York: Orbis Books, 1993.
- Luther, M. D. Martin Luthers Werke [WA]. Vol. 10. Weimar: H. Böhlaus, 1925.
- Amherdt, F.-X. Paul Ricoeur: l'herméneutique biblique. Paris: Éditions du Cerf, 2001.
- Aquino, M. P. *Our cry for Life. Feminist theology from Latin America*. Eugene, OR: Wipf & Stock, 1993.
- Bernheim, N. "Les *églises* noires et leurs révérends." *Revue d'histoire* 19 (1988): 31–41.
- Bouttier, M. L'Épître de Saint Paul aux Éphésiens, CNT-2, IXb. Genève: Labor & Fides, 1991.
- Drønen, T. S. Pentecostalism, Globalization, and Islam in Northern Cameroon: Megachurches in the Making? Leiden: Brill, 2013.
- Dube, M. W. "The Scramble for Africa as the Biblical Scramble for Africa: Postcolonial Perspectives." In *Postcolonial Perspectives in African Biblical Interpretations*, edited by M. W. Dube et al., 1–28. Atlanta, GA: SBL, 2012.
- Gadamer, H.-G. Truth and Method. London: Continuum, 2004.
- Gadet, S. "L'esclavage et la naissance de l'*église* noire aux *États-Unis*." *Études caribéennes* 29 (December 2014), http://journals.openedition.org/etudesca-ribeennes/7229.
- Gibellini, R. Panorama de la théologie au XXe siècle. Paris: Cerf, 1994.
- Kirbihler, F. "Des Grecs et des Italiens à Éphèse: les mutations d'une capitale de province (70 av. J.-C.-73 apr. J.-C.)." *Pallas* 96 (2014): 233-252, https://journals.openedition.org/pallas/1273.
- Koulagna, J. *Exégèse et herméneutique en contexte*. Yaoundé: Dinimber & Larimber, 2014.

——"Identité confessionnelle, identité africaine et dialogue interreligieux: réflexions sur les héritages théologiques et culturels dans le christianisme africain." In *Dialogue interreligieux, médiation et laïcité au Cameroun: Perspectives actuelles et logiques multirationnelles*, edited by T. Falna and J. Koulagna, 25–40. Yaoundé: Monange, 2020, https://www.academia. edu/44242395/2020_Conclusion_générale.

- Ledru R. "Les noirs catholiques aux *États-Unis:* une 'double minorité' préoccupante." *SER-Études* 398 (2003): 787–98.
- Maier, G. Biblical Hermeneutics. Wheaton, IL: Crossway Books, 1994.
- Mveng, E. and R. J. Zwi Werblowsky. *Black Africa and the Bible. L'Afrique noire et la Bible. Actes du colloque de Jérusalem, du 24 au 30 avril 1972.* Jerusalem: Israel Interfaith Committee, 1973.
- Rodier, D. "L'herméneutique théologique de Hans-Georg Gadamer: une dérogation à son herméneutique philosophique?" *Laval théologique et philosophique* 68 (2012): 639–69, https://philarchive.org/archive/RODLTDv1.
- Siegwalt, G. "Le principe scripturaire (sola scriptura) à l'épreuve de notre temps." ÉTR 89 (2014): 39–55, https://www.cairn.info/revue-etudes-theologiqueset-religieuses-2014-1-page-39.htm.

Body, Spirit, Hope, and Being a Communion

Jerzy Sojka

Evangelical Church of the Augsburg Confession in Poland The Christian Theological Academy in Warsaw, Poland

Context and historical roots

In 2023, the LWF will meet for its Thirteenth Assembly in Kraków, Poland, the second time in its history in Central and Eastern Europe. The previous assembly in this region, in Budapest, made a lasting mark on the LWF's journey from federation to communion. Finally, after decades of debates, the LWF Constitution stated: "The member churches of the Lutheran World Federation understand themselves to be in pulpit and altar fellowship with each other." It was an expression of recognition that the communion of churches that make up the LWF is something more than just an association established to carry out specific tasks. There is a communion among the Lutheran churches of which the LWF is an instrument. It is a communion based on a commonly professed faith included in the common doctrinal foundations, which is implemented by means provided by the Lutheran confessions of faith (Augsburg Confession, art. VII), namely, a community that is united by consensus on the Word and the sacrament. This journey would not have been possible without a clear guestion in the early 1960s as to whether the Lutheran churches, which share the same confessions of faith, can only see themselves as an association and ignore the fact that they thereby fulfill the postulate of unity in Word and sacrament. It would not be possible without the involvement and role of the LWF in the ecumenical movement as a representative of Lutheran churches. Finally, it would not be possible without clearly opposing the racist practices of division and segregation at the Lord's Table that have existed in South Africa's churches because of the country's apartheid system.

The Budapest decision was the beginning of the way toward building a selfunderstanding of the LWF as a communion. The fact that the understanding of LWF member churches as a communion has wide implications can already be seen in the characteristics of this communion, which was prepared in Budapest:

We give witness to and affirm the communion in which the Lutheran churches of the whole world are bound together. This communion is rooted in the unity of the apostolic faith as given in the Holy Scripture and witnessed by the ecumenical creeds and the Lutheran confessions. It is based on "united witness before the world to the gospel of Jesus Christ as the power of God for salvation" (Constitution of the LWF, III.2.a). And it is based on agreement in the proclamation of the gospel and celebration of the sacraments (Augsburg Confession, Article VII).

This Lutheran communion of churches finds its visible expression in pulpit and altar fellowship, in common witness and service, in the joint fulfillment of the missionary task, and in openness to ecumenical cooperation, dialog, and community. The Lutheran churches of the world consider their communion as an expression of the one, holy, catholic, and apostolic church.

This description of the Lutheran communion places it in a wider ecumenical context. For the assembly in Budapest, the *communio* language also became a way of describing the ecumenical commitment of the Lutheran churches of the world gathered within the LWF:

The true unity of the church, which is the unity of the body of Christ and participates in the unity of the Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, is given in and through proclamation of the gospel in Word and sacrament. This unity is expressed as a communion in the common and, at the same time, multiform confession of one and the same apostolic faith. It is a communion in holy baptism and in the eucharistic meal, a communion in which the ministries exercised are recognized by all as expressions of the ministry instituted by Christ in his church. It is a communion where diversities contribute to fullness and are no longer barriers to unity. It is a committed fellowship, able to make common decisions and to act in common.

The reflection and decisions of the assembly in Budapest were confirmed in 1990 in Curitiba. This assembly crowned the intensive work of the 1980s on the concept of *communio* ecclesiology and indicated that this perception of the LWF is key to its self-understanding.

The experiences and challenges of being a communion have raised questions about what such a communion means. The answer to this question, in view of the challenges for the unity of the communion that came to the fore after the Eleventh Assembly in Stuttgart, Germany, was to indicate that the communion is, on the one hand, a gift that lives from God's gift, and on the other, a task that it sets before all its members.

The community as a task requires us to constantly look anew at how we understand it. Referring to the theme of the Thirteenth Assembly in Kraków, "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope," we want to look from the perspective of its main elements – the body, the Spirit, and hope – at the biblical and Reformation inspirations of the LWF as *communio*, as well as at its current practice.

Biblical inspirations

When we turn to the thinking about *koinonia* that is present in the LWF reflection, two main biblical passages come to the fore: the description of the early Jerusalem Church in Acts 2 and Paul's reflections on communion in the eucharistic context from 1 Corinthians.

The description of the early Jerusalem Church (42-47) shows that its essence was to abide in the apostolic teaching, communion, the breaking of bread, and prayer. This communion is not only a spiritual communion, but is based on a

physical meeting, being with each other. It is realized by gathering in the temple together as well as meeting together to break bread at home. Its creation is the result of the outpouring of the Holy Spirit. It was thanks to his actions that Peter gave a sermon in which he called, "Repent, and be baptized every one of you in the name of Jesus Christ so that your sins may be forgiven; and you will receive the gift of the Holy Spirit" (38). In response, many were baptized into a communion of the early Jerusalem Church, which, without exception, included all those who experienced the action of the Holy Spirit in Peter's sermon and had received Baptism. This communion lived the hope of salvation on a daily basis. The author of the Acts of the Apostles concludes its description: "And day by day the Lord added to their number those who were being saved" (47).

Paul's reflections on *koinonia* in the eucharistic context in 1 Corinthians 11 also point to the physical aspect of this community. Paul's blade of criticism is aimed at the divisions and disorder that occur when Corinthians meet for the Lord's Supper (17-22). Scholars discuss the exact nature of the divisions to which Paul refers. There is no doubt, however, that the divisions in access to the Lord's Supper prompted the apostle to strongly admonish the Corinthians. The physically palpable *koinonia* of the congregation gathered around the Eucharist is the response of concrete people to the invitation of the Lord himself. It is the Lord himself who, through the Holy Spirit, as we will see in a moment, creates a congregation out of them. In the communion of the congregation gathered around the Lord's Table, there is no room for exclusion based on some human ideas of gender, race, property status, et cetera.

For Paul, participation in the body of Christ is an essential element of the Lord's Supper: "The cup of blessing that we bless, is it not a sharing in the blood of Christ? The bread that we break, is it not a sharing in the body of Christ?" (1 Cor 10:16). The development of the image of Christ's body is found in 1 Corinthians 12. The Apostle relates it to the church with its diversity of gifts of the Spirit (12-27). This body combines a variety of elements. None of them can be missing, none of them can be considered superior or the only one necessary for the survival of the body. This body should have the same solidarity as was to be characteristic of the eating of the Lord's Supper in the Corinthian congregation: "If one member suffers, all suffer together with it; if one member is honored, all rejoice together with it" (26). The body of Christ in 1 Corinthians 12:13 is also the work of the Holy Spirit, who incorporates everyone into it through Baptism, regardless of their origin ("Jews or Greeks") or social status ("slaves or free"). It is the Spirit who makes the body possible.

In 1 Corinthians 11, Paul also gives the words of the institution of the Lord's Supper (23-25). He included an accent on memory – *anamnesis*: "Do this in remembrance of me [...] Do this, as often as you drink it, in remembrance of me." He also added a clear message of hope to the words of establishment: "For as often as you eat this bread and drink the cup, you proclaim the Lord's death until he comes." The Lord's Supper remains the meal of Christ's saving death and is eaten in the hope of his return.

Reformation inspirations

The idea of the LWF as a communion goes back to the key ecclesiological statement of the Wittenberg Reformation – article VII of the Augsburg Confession:

Likewise, they teach that one holy church will remain forever. The church is the assembly of saints in which the gospel is taught purely and the sacraments are administered rightly. And it is enough for the true unity of the church to agree concerning the teaching of the gospel and the administration of the sacraments. It is not necessary that human traditions, rites, or ceremonies instituted by human beings be alike everywhere. As Paul says [Eph 4:5-6]: One faith, one baptism, one God and Father of all.

The vision it contains points to the church as a gathering around the gospel proclaimed and the sacraments administered. This assembly becomes tangible when it meets in a service. The preached gospel brings the news of salvation only by grace through faith. This liberation by God's grace is not only for the human spirit. Luther, explaining the third article of the Creed in *The Large Catechism* clearly indicates that the work of sanctification, which is the result of the action of the Holy Spirit, does not concern only the human spirit or soul:

Meanwhile, because holiness has begun and is growing daily, we await the time when our flesh will be put to death, will be buried with all its uncleanness, and will come forth gloriously and arise to complete and perfect holiness in a new, eternal life. Now, however, we remain only halfway pure and holy. The Holy Spirit must always work in us through the Word, granting us daily forgiveness until we attain to that life where there will be no more forgiveness. In that life there will be only perfectly pure and holy people, full of integrity and righteousness, completely freed from sin, death, and all misfortune, living in new, immortal and glorified bodies.

The Holy Spirit makes the redemptive justification resulting from the work of Jesus Christ reach a concrete person by including that person in the process of sanctification. This is done through the medium of the Word: the preached Word and the visible Word, that is, the sacraments (cf. Augsburg Confession, art. V). The word of the promise of salvation does not reach us only as an audible Word aimed at the human spirit or addressing its rationality. The communication of the promise also refers to the visible Word, which engages our sight as well as all the other senses. So, it is the Word that is addressed to the whole person in the preaching and sacraments. The emphasis is on the mutual complement based on the "and" in the formulation about the Word in the preaching and the sacrament as means of the Holy Spirit's action.

Luther also repeats this emphasis when defining the sacraments themselves. It goes back to the old Augustinian formula, which sees the sacrament as an inseparable combination of the Word of promise and the external sign. As Luther showed in *On the Babylonian Captivity of the Church*, among the rites conceived as sacraments, only those accompanied by both – the clear promise of salvation given by Jesus Christ himself and the clearly distinguishable visible sign that also

embraces the human body - can be preserved. The promise cannot be separated from the sign. The sacrament is to reach the whole person – both the person's body and spirit. Luther fervently protested against those who, in his opinion, disregarded the saving promise of Baptism, understanding this rite only as a result of human profession of faith. He opposed with equal zeal when Zwingli limited the action of the promise of salvation to what is spiritual in people, disregarding the reality of the presence of the Body and Blood of Christ in the signs of the Lord's Supper, which are available to what is corporal in people. This conviction of the necessary mutual meeting of the promise and sign, and of directing the sacrament at the whole person, the person's spiritual and bodily aspect, was especially heard in the polemics with Zwingli when Luther, in order to explain his position, looked for an analogy in understanding Christ's incarnation in terms of teaching about the communicatio idiomatum, that is, the exchange of qualities of both the divine and human nature of Christ. This teaching was to guard the unity of the person of Christ, in whom divinity and humanity are fully met. Just as in the incarnation Christ lowered himself to be human for the salvation of humankind, so is he really present in his body and blood in the bread and wine of the sacrament at the altar.

When we look at Baptism, the physical experience of being baptized is for Luther a perfect picture of what a Christian experiences in life. In his early sermons on the sacraments, Luther puts it this way:

It would be proper, according to the meaning of the word *Taufe*, that the infant, or whoever is to be baptized, should be put in and sunk completely into the water and then drawn out again. [...] This usage is also demanded by the significance of baptism itself. For baptism, as we shall hear, signifies that the old man and the sinful birth of flesh and blood are to be wholly drowned by the grace of God. We should therefore do justice to its meaning and make baptism a true and complete sign of the thing it signifies.

This physical experience of Baptism is not merely an illustration of God's grace at work. It carries it. Therefore, Baptism is not only the starting point of the Christian journey, but something that defines the whole life of a Christian. The thought of the experience of death and resurrection with Christ, which marks the entire Christian life in repentance, appeared in Luther's early writings in 1519, and it permanently entered the Lutheran understanding of Baptism, as expressed in the fourth question of *The Small Catechism*. It means that a Christians who have experienced Baptism should live as new persons with their whole being. Baptism is a call to a life transformation that goes far beyond the rite itself and is constitutive of every Christian action in the world. Baptism carries within itself the promise of salvation, which requires faith, and the faith in it leads to sanctification lived in the fulfillment of one's vocation in the world to serve others in love.

The Reformation understanding of the sacrament refers to an action of the Holy Spirit that reaches the whole person, which is corporal and spiritual. The effects of this action, however, are not limited to an internal change in the person who accepts the promise in faith, but is for that person a constant obligation to live for his or her neighbor. This logic applied not only to the experience of the

promise of salvation in the water of Baptism, but also to that related to the Body and Blood of Christ in the bread and wine of the Lord's Supper. In the early sermons on the Lord's Supper, the effect of receiving the sacrament goes further than merely the forgiveness of sin: it includes the communion that arises among the recipients who have experienced reconciliation with God:

There are those, indeed, who would gladly share in the profits but not in the costs. That is, they like to hear that in this sacrament the help, fellowship, and support of all the saints are promised and given to them. But they are unwilling in their turn to belong also to this fellowship. They will not help the poor, put up with sinners, care for the sorrowing, suffer with the suffering, intercede for others, defend the truth, and at the risk of [their own] life, property, and honor seek the betterment of the church and of all Christians.[...]They are self-seeking persons, whom this sacrament does not benefit.[...]No, we on our part must make the evil of others our own, if we desire Christ and his saints to make our evil their own. Then will the fellowship be complete, and justice be done to the sacrament. For the sacrament has no blessing and significance unless love grows daily and so changes a person that he is made one with all others.

The person I share the sacrament with is not without significance. For I am obliged to create a true communio with that person, and this means a commitment to care for my neighbor in all their needs. Luther does not write here about an abstract neighbor, but about a real, concrete crossing of what separates us from our neighbor, regardless of whether it is that neighbor's material status, our assessment of his or her behavior, the price we will have to pay for our help. When joining the communion of the Lord's Table, we are not to pay attention to these human-imaginary boundaries, but we should be ready to help our neighbor whom we meet at the Lord's Table in all possible ways. Especially since, as Luther later wrote in The Large Catechism, all are invited to use the medicine of the Lord's Supper, which benefits the body and soul. Christians, on the other hand, should make every effort to ensure that those who experience Baptism also receive the Lord's Supper. As Luther put it in 1519, criticizing the so-called brotherhood, the Lord's Supper is not something that a group in the church can appropriate. It is the celebration of the whole community that is united not only with Christ, but also with one another.

What constitutes *communio*, that is, the Word and the sacraments, is, in the Lutheran understanding, the Holy Spirit's means of action. This is clearly visible in the wording of article V of the Augsburg Confession, which, like article VII, talks about the proclamation of the gospel and the sacraments:

So that we may obtain this faith, the ministry of teaching the gospel and administering the sacraments was instituted. For through the Word and the sacraments as through instruments the Holy Spirit is given, who effects faith where and when it pleases God in those who hear the gospel, that is to say, in those who hear that God, not on account of our own merits but on account of Christ, justifies those who believe that they received into grace on account of Christ.

This article reflects in a classic way the belief of Lutheran pneumatology about "The Spirit's Embodiment in the Word." The belief in the action of the Holy Spirit in the Word is also behind the explanation of the third article of faith in *The Large Catechism*: "Where he does not cause it [i.e., the Word of God] to be preached and does not awaken understanding of it in the heart, all is lost." The meaning of Holy Spirit's action is that every single Christian, though not alone but as part of the church, should participate in the salvation that Christ gained through his death and resurrection on the cross:

Neither you nor I could ever know anything about Christ, or believe in him and receive him as our Lord, unless these were offered to us and bestowed on our hearts through the preaching of the gospel by the Holy Spirit. The work is finished and completed; Christ has acquired and won the treasure for us by his sufferings, death, and resurrection, etc. But if the work remained hidden and no one knew of it, it would have been all in vain, all lost. In order that this treasure might not be buried but put to use and enjoyed, God has caused the Word to be published and proclaimed, in which he has given the Holy Spirit to offer and apply to us this treasure, this redemption.

The Holy Spirit not only gathers the communion of the church, but also ensures that it remains united. The Spirit also gives each of its members the forgiveness of sins. The meeting of this communion in worship is also a field of action of the Holy Spirit, because according to the famous words opening the Lutheran sermon for the consecration of the castle church in Torgau, Germany, the meaning of the service is "that our dear Lord himself may speak to us through his holy Word and we respond to him through prayer and praise." By gathering at the service, we gather to experience the Word, and thus to submit ourselves to the action of the Holy Spirit.

Opening oneself to the action of the Holy Spirit is a source of hope. The Spirit's action has, as Luther shows in *The Large Catechism*, an eschatological horizon:

All this, then, is the office and work of the Holy Spirit, to begin and daily increase holiness on earth through these two means, the Christian church and the forgiveness of sins. Then, when we pass from this life, in the blink of an eye he will perfect our holiness and will eternally preserve us in it by means of the last two parts of this article [i.e., resurrection of the body and eternal life].

All the actions of the Holy Spirit are meant to lead us to the realization of the hope of salvation. Therefore, Baptism, as Luther put it in his early sermons, is a lifelong process that culminates in crossing the border of death into life:

This significance of baptism – the dying or drowning of sin – is not fulfilled completely in this life. Indeed, this does not happen until man passes through bodily death and completely decays to dust. As we can plainly see, the sacrament or sign of baptism is quickly over. But the spiritual baptism, the drowning of sin, which it signifies, lasts as long as we live and is completed only in death. Then it is that a person is completely sunk in baptism, and that which baptism signifies comes to pass.

The Lord's Supper also brings with it an element of eschatological hope. One of its roles is to be a meal on the way to the fulfillment of Christian hope. As Luther writes in *The Large Catechism*: "Therefore, it is appropriately called the food of the soul, for it nourishes and strengthens the new creature."

Communio at the LWF today

The self-understanding of the LWF as a communion has become its constant point of reference. The broad understanding of the communion – *koinonia, communio* – sketched in Budapest over the years shaped how the Lutheran communion of churches understands itself, its commitment to mission and *diakonia*, and the fulfillment of its ecumenical commitment.

- The communion *koinonia* uniting the LWF member churches is a gift. A gift, because its creation is the work of the Holy Spirit who makes it happen through the proclamation of the gospel and strengthens it through the sacraments.
- The communion is also a task for all its members. The implementation of this task must take into account fundamental beliefs: the gospel is the core of our life in communion; Word and sacraments are events of communion; the message of the cross heals our brokenness; the Word of God creates and affirms both unity and diversity; the gospel entails freedom, respect and bearing with one another.

The LWF's commitment to mission refers to the mission of the Triune God, who acts as Creator, Redeemer, and Sanctifier. Mission understood in this way belongs to the essence of the church and constitutes its existence. The mission perspective allows us to better understand the unity, holiness, apostolicity, and catholicity of the church. It gives the impetus to live as a communion of churches, rooted in a communion of the Triune God, that feels accountable to its ecumenical partners. Like the communion, its mission lives and is strengthened by the Word and guided by the Holy Spirit. This communion draws strength to carry out its mission from Baptism, in which the grace that nourishes life in discipleship is given. This mission is nourished by the Lord's Supper, to which he invites and in which Christ himself is present. This mission involves transformation, reconciliation and empowerment. It is a holistic and contextual practice that combines preaching and service, in the context of justification; it asks about justice and brings the experience of salvation and healing. It does not shy away from dialogue with interreligious partners.

The diaconal commitment of the LWF is also rooted in professing faith in the Triune God. It is an integral part of being the church. *Diakonia* together with *leiturgia* and *kerygma* form the basic dimensions of *koinonia*. The diaconal commitment draws its inspiration from the experience of participation in the Lord's Supper – which is not confined to the liturgical act of administering the sacrament itself – but seeks its fulfillment in liturgy after liturgy. The diaconal commitment is also derived from the fact that the new life in Christ, shared by Christians, calls

them to do good deeds. The realization of *diakonia* is closely related to the service, because *diakonia* cannot do without diaconally oriented spirituality. In its many dimensions, it also has a prophetic dimension, which implies the involvement of the church in the public sphere as well.

The LWF's self-understanding as a communion does not allow it to close itself only to its members. The unity given to the communion, based on the action of the Holy Spirit in the Word and the sacrament, becomes an obligation to strive for a broader unity of the whole body of Christ, and not to be closed within its confessional boundaries. Lutherans do this on a global, regional, and local level. They seek unity in theological dialogue as well as in common witness and service. Their understanding of ecumenism refers to the search for unity in reconciled diversity and differentiated consensus, as well as effective ways of reception of ecumenical experience throughout the church. In its commitments to ecumenical partners, the LWF indicates that ecumenism has a variety of forms, locally and globally, and needs to use clear terminology, working toward the continuation and renewal of bilateral dialogues, the necessary enhancing of reception, and developing pastoral ecumenism and ecumenical spirituality.

Today's questions

LWF understands itself as a communion. The biblical and reformation foundations of this self-understanding carry content that allows them to be developed on the basis of the categories of body, spirit, and hope included in the theme of the assembly. It calls us to look critically at the reality of *communio* in which we live as the LWF.

"One Body" asks us not only how we understand the biblical images of the body that reflect the unity of Christ's *koinonia* (e.g., 1 Cor 12:11ff.). The context of the world we live in, which has been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, also raises the question of the importance of bodily presence and being physically together in our being church. How, then, do we understand our gift and task to be the body of Christ? What is the significance for us that God's action both in the preaching and sacrament is addressed to the whole person, both bodily and spiritually, with which we are called to act and serve? In our identity as a communion, where is there a place to be together and to be physically close? Where is it necessary? Where do we set unjustified boundaries to being together and to closeness? Where does this communion become a place of exclusion instead of inclusion because of our imaginations? How do these biblical images and questions about physical closeness and inclusive communion shape our being a communion, its mission, and its diaconal and ecumenical commitment?

"One Spirit" asks that the Holy Spirit has a place in our sense of being a Lutheran communion, where it rarely comes to expression in language and in its work among us. We, as Lutherans, often carry the experience of the Holy Spirit as a key figure, yet it is absent in the way we speak about our experience of Christianity. How do we understand the presence of the Holy Spirit in what constitutes our communion? How is its action manifested in our mission and *diakonia*? How does it shape our ecumenical commitment?

"One Hope." In a torn world, burdened with many divisions, and with the trauma of a recent pandemic, the question about the source of hope comes to the fore. How, as a communion, do we relate to the appeal from Peter's letter, "Always be ready to make your defense to anyone who demands from you an accounting for the hope that is in you" (1 Pet 3:15)? How does our hope translate into that carried out by mission and *diakonia*? If so, what hope is there in our ecumenical meetings?

Bibliography

- Barth, H. M. The Theology of Martin Luther. A Critical Assessment. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress, 2013.
- Brand, E. L. Toward a Lutheran Communion: Pulpit and Altar Fellowship. LWF-Report 26, Geneva: LWF, 1988.
- Brunner, P. "The Lutheran World Federation as an Ecclesiological Problem." Lutheran World 7 (1960): 237-56 and 288-91.
- Grose, L. K., ed. Sent into the World. The Proceedings of the Fifth Assembly of the Lutheran World Federation. Evian, France. July 14–24, 1970. Minneapolis, MN: Augsburg, 1971.
- Heilmann, J. and P. Wick. "Art. Mahl/Mahlzeit (NT), 5.1.-5.2." In WiBiLex, https:// www.bibelwissenschaft.de/stichwort/51975/.
- Hjelm, N. A., ed. "I Have Heard the Cry of My People..." Proceedings. The Eighth Assembly. Lutheran World Federation. Curitiba, Brazil. January 29 – February 8, 1990. LWF-Report 28/29. Geneva: LWF, 1990.
- Institute for Ecumenical Research. Communio/Koinonia. A New Testament-Early Christian Concept and its Contemporary Appropriation and Significance. Strasbourg, 1990 (German repr.: "Communio – Koinonia, Ein neutestamentlichfrühchristlicher Begriff und seine heutige Wiederaufnahme und Bedeutung. Eine Stellungnahme des Instituts für Ökumenische Forschung Strasbourg 1990." Una Sancta 46 [1991]: 157–176).
- Kolb, R. and T. Wengert. The Book of Concord: The Confessions of the Evangelical Lutheran Church. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress, 2000.
- Lange, D. G. "Real Presence and Absent Bodies: Sacramental Practice Today." In Church after the Corona Pandemic: Consequences for Worship and Theology, edited by K. K. Schiefelbein-Guerrero. Cham, CH: Springer, 2023 (forthcoming).

- Lutheran World Federation A Communion of Churches, ed. One Body, One Spirit, One Hope. Introducing the Thirteenth Assembly and its Theme. Geneva: LWF, 2021, https://www.lutheranworld.org/sites/default/files/2021/ documents/2023a_what_is_the_assembly_booklet_en.pdf.
- Lutheran World Federation, Department for Mission and Development, ed. Diakonia in Context. Transformation, Reconciliation, Empowerment. An LWF Contribution to the Understanding and Practice of Diakonia. Geneva: LWF, 2004, https:// lite.lutheranworld.org/sites/default/files/DMD-Diakonia-EN-low.pdf.
- ——Mission in Context. Transformation, Reconciliation, Empowerment. An LWF Contribution to the Understanding and Practice of Mission. Geneva: LWF, 2009, https://www.lutheranworld.org/sites/default/files/DMD-Missionin-Context-EN-low.pdf.
- Lutheran World Federation, Department for Theology and Public Witness, ed. The Self-Understanding of the Lutheran Communion. A Study Document. Geneva: LWF, 2015, https://www.lutheranworld.org/sites/default/files/dtpwself-understanding_communion_2015_1.pdf.
 - ——The Lutheran World Federation's Commitments on the Ecumenical Way to Ecclesial Communion. Geneva: LWF, 2021, https://www.lutheranworld.org/sites/ default/files/2018/documents/dtpw-ecumenical_commitments_2018_en.pdf.
- Lutheran World Federation, Department for Theology, Mission and Justice, ed. The Church in the Public Space. A Study Document of the Lutheran World Federation. Geneva: LWF, 2021, https://www.lutheranworld.org/sites/default/ files/dtmj- church_in_public_space_2021_en.pdf.
- Mau, C.H., ed. "In Christ Hope for the World." Official Proceedings of the Seventh Assembly of the Lutheran World Federation, Budapest, Hungary July 22 – August 5, 1984. LWF Report 19/20. Geneva: LWF, 1985, https://archive. org/details/inchristhopeforw0000luth/page/.
- Oberdorfer, B. "Embodied Spirit: Outlines of Lutheran Pneumatology." In "We Believe in the Holy Spirit." Global Perspectives on Lutheran Identities, edited by Chad M. Rimmer and Cheryl M. Peterson, 47–58. LWF Documentation 63. Leipzig: Evangelische Verlagsanstalt, 2021.
- Parmentier, E. "Dealing with Difference in Communion Relationships." In Understanding the Gift of Communion. The Quest for a Shared Self-Understanding of the Lutheran Communion. A Reader, edited by Lutheran World Federation, Department for Theology and Public Witness, 69-84. Geneva: LWF, 2014, https://www.lutheranworld.org/sites/default/files/DTPW-Self-Understanding_Communion-low.pdf.

- Prenter, R. Das Bekenntnis von Augsburg. Eine Auslegung. Erlangen: Martin-Luther-Verlag, 1980.
- Rimmer, Ch. and Ch. L. Peterson, eds. "We Believe in the Holy Spirit." Global Perspectives on Lutheran Identities. LWF Documentation 63. Leipzig: Evangelische Verlagsanstalt, 2021, https://www.lutheranworld.org/content/resource-webelieve-holy-spirit-global-perspectives-lutheran-identities.
- Rossing, B. "Models of Koinonia in the New Testament and Early Church." In The Church as Communion, Lutheran Contributions to Ecclesiology, edited by H. Holze, 65–80. LWF-Documentation 42. Geneva: LWF, 1998.
- Sojka, J. Stawanie się wspólnotą. Wieczerza Pańska jako nota ecclesiae w publikacjach Światowej Federacji Luterańskiej. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe Chrześcijańskiej Akademii Teologicznej, 2021.
- Sovik, A., ed. In Christ a New Community. The proceedings of the Sixth Assembly of the Lutheran World Federation. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. June 13–25, 1977. Geneva: LWF, 1977.
- Thiselton, A. C. The First Epistle to the Corinthians. A Commentary on the Greek Text. NIGTC. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 2000, 857ff.
- Wasmuth, J. "'The Holy Spirit Has Called Me through the Gospel...': The Third Article of Luther's Small Catechism as a Basic Text of Lutheran Ecclesiology." In Rimmer and Peterson (2021), 101–114.

"Life Breath" as a Tangible Symbol of God's Grace. Markers of Theology of the Body and Embodied Justice

Evangeline Anderson-Rajkumar

Evangelical Lutheran Church in America

Introduction

The theme of the Thirteenth LWF Assembly, "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope," reflects the urgency for the church to engage diligently in search for truth, reconciliation, and healing of a wounded body at a time when the world has witnessed dire situations of brokenness, pain, disease, and death due to the dual pandemic of racism and the spread of COVID-19. While the COVID-19 pandemic swept across the world catching everyone by surprise, and leaving no corner of the world intact, the pandemic of racism has prevailed through centuries, eating into the vitals of human global body. Consciously or unconsciously, there is a legitimization of the ideology of power and dominance in the hands of a few, who have appropriated privilege and priority as the legitimate right of one community over another. Such a claim of exclusive privilege and exercising of rights over another person or community has resulted in easier access to resources, rights, and power while denying the same for the other, because the differential value associated with "the difference" is perceived as normal, legitimate, necessary, good, and acceptable.

In this paper, I focus on one incident that happened in May 2020 and remains fresh in the memory of the world, especially as it happened during the early pandemic days of COVID-19. It is the brutal murder, in broad daylight in Minneapolis, United States, of George Floyd, a Black man whose life breath was snuffed out when a police officer chose to kneel on his neck for more than nine minutes. This, despite people asking him to get his knee off the neck of the big burly man whose dignity, rights, and life breath lay crushed as much as his physical body. This incident led to an eruption of global movements in solidarity to protest against the inhuman treatment meted out to people of color simply because of their skin color.

The protest movements that erupted globally in over sixty countries showed that there was something different about the protests. It was no mere knee jerk reaction or symbolic protest. In the United States, people gathered on the streets in almost all the major cities, regardless of color, race, religion, or sexual identity. In other words, people decided to come together physically in a symbolic sense, to cry out against the inhuman treatment of people of color. Several recent memories and experiences of violence perpetuated against people of color were invoked. It was as if the lament required a loud recalling of the names of several of those who faced the undignified snuffing-out of their life breaths: Eric Garner, Michael

Brown, Sandra Bland, Tamir Rice, Travon Martin, Ahmad Arbury, and many more. If people decided to come out and protest against the violence and murder of George Floyd despite the pandemic situation, it highlighted the extent to which "every-body" experienced a share of that shame, indignity, and pain in their own bodies. In other words, there was a continuity between the passion, suffering, and death of George Floyd and those thousands who broke out in protests in so many corners of the world. It is important to state that George Floyd's body and experience turn into a critical lens for the theological analysis and articulation of a body theology and embodied justice. How do we critically assess where the church (global and local) stands today on matters of social justice, especially racial justice? How can the Lutheran communion help amplify the global prophetic voice of conscience, courage, and conviction with the power of faith, courage, and hope in the light of the cross and the empty tomb of Jesus Christ?

Basic theological framework of a body theology and embodied justice

The Body is the basic site of all violence, injustice, and discrimination, at any time in history. Whether it is war, violence, or hatred, the aim is to hurt, kill, and deny the body of value, right, dignity, life, and life breath. At times, communal hatred is poured out on a symbolic site, such as a religious place, the *sanctum sanctorum* (or the *womb* of a holy site), or on the bodies of the vulnerable, thereby defacing, desecrating, and demoralizing a larger community. Even as the body is the site of violence, we see that it is the same *body* that struggles, groans, and waits for change, vindication, resurrection, and hope of a new life.

The Spirit is, and has always been, at work in history, from the time of creation. The Spirit flows seamlessly as the wind, blowing wherever, to enliven the wounded world with the perpetual flow of oxygen from God's grace and love. Life's breath is also Spirit. When God blew into the nostrils of Adam, the first human, it was the gift of the Spirit given as gift of grace, to the symbolic representative of the whole of humanity. Without the presence of this Spirit, there is no life, no breath, no life breath. When God created humankind in God's unconditional, and universal grace!

Hope: The image of hope for new life is a return of life breath, energy, and hope to the wounded and broken bodies and communities. The image of the "dry bones" coming back together as mentioned by the prophet Ezekiel is a rearticulation of the experience of resurrection, here and now. Hope is not abstract hope but is experienced as shared energy invigorating people's movements to rise up and protest, to speak up and speak out against injustices. Signs of hope emerge not only as signs of victory, but as resilience and resistance against abusive powers. Hope is always shared hope, and constantly gathers momentum and power to grow into a larger movement with greater expectation of change and transformation.

What the world witnessed in and after George Floyd's death was this gathering of global momentum for change and transformation, for better quality, equality and equity, regardless.

George Floyd: transformation from a "then moment" to a "global movement" for justice!

May 25, 2020, will go down in history as a day when humanity sank to an abysmal low, when George Floyd, a 46-year-old African-American, was murdered in broad daylight, pinned to the pavement, face down, handcuffed, with the knee of a White police officer on his neck for nine minutes and twenty-five seconds.

George Floyd went into a convenient store in Minneapolis and was alleged to have turned in an allegedly fake twenty-dollar bill. The perceived degree of criminality multiplies whenever Black persons are allegedly the ones accused, and they are often punished, killed, and their bodies even mutilated as if proportionately to that multiplied degree. The example of the ignoble murder of 14-year-old Black boy Emmett Till, in 1955, who was bludgeoned to death for daring to whistle at a White woman, is a story in history that is part of the civil rights movement in the USA. Floyd's death, which happened to be video recorded on a cell phone, reached every nook and corner of the world, and invigorated the emergence of global protests and movement for justice. Floyd's dying words, "I can't breathe," became a global cry for justice.

It was around the same time in history when a prominent actor, Lori Loughlin, was found guilty in a college admissions bribery scandal involving millions of dollars. A jail term of two months was considered an appropriate sentence for the celebrity, who has since been welcomed back into society to resume from where she had left off, following this very brief reprieve. On the other hand, George Floyd's crime was the use of an allegedly fake twenty-dollar bill. It was not because Floyd tried to escape or avoid arrest that he was murdered in broad daylight by the weight of a knee on his neck. There is no need to compare the seriousness of "the crime" committed by Lori Loughlin or George Floyd. The fundamental difference is the denial of the right of a person of color to be considered a human being worthy of bearing the image of God, an honor and grace that is bestowed on the whole humanity alike, as a symbol of equity, love, and grace.

The root of all evils and systems of oppression – sin – lies in the fundamental refusal to accept the divine presence, the image of God (*imago Dei*) in a fellow being whose body is different and negatively othered. In other words, the differential value associated with the *difference* – in terms of one's skin color, or race, religion, ethnicity, gender, sex, and sexuality – is legitimized and normalized as of lesser value. This sinful situation may be summed up in one word, namely, patriarchy. When God has gifted humanity with this unconditional and non-negotiable gift of the image of God, no power on earth can deny a fellow being of this core gift of grace.

Linking the story, history, life story, and God's love story

I used the metaphor "knee on the neck of George Floyd" in an earlier article to refer to similar yokes in history that were sustained by people's backs and necks as their lands, lives, livelihoods, and life stories were subsumed in the narration of a larger history that legitimized and normalized the story and history of enslavement and deprivation. It is important to locate the story of George Floyd in the larger narrative of history, where the lives and life stories of people who were "different" were also considered "dispensable" because their bodies are not considered worthy enough to reflect the presence of the *imago Dei*. Cases of racial violence, abuse, and injustice perpetuate in history because of colluding silence – an unwillingness to speak up and speak out against the injustice done to the vulnerable who are deemed expendable in history. The history of experiences of persons such as George Floyd (and Emmett Till) should remain in the memory and as a primary source of theology for a transformative body theology and embodied justice.

Christian theology is all about God gifting the world with Jesus, the Son, the incarnate one, born of Mary. Christian theology cannot be imagined outside the framework of a body. The theology of incarnation, the theology of the cross, and the empty tomb have to do with the body. Our future, hope, and new life also have to do with the body. This means that a theology of life, love, and justice is inconceivable without reference to the body. The promise of new life, eternal life, is connected to the faith in the bodily resurrection as part of Christian hope. God's love story for the world is complete with the inclusion of the body.

Theological significance of anamnesis in a body theology and embodied justice

The act of remembering and retelling our stories and life stories is important for body theology and embodied justice. A cursory glimpse into the existing theological curricula and pedagogy would reveal the truth about whose history, memory, and experience has become a dominant source of theology and theologizing today. Anamnesis is an important part of eucharistic liturgy because we are called to remember the night in which the sacrament of the Lord's Supper was instituted, when Jesus was betrayed, remembering the context in which Jesus broke the bread and shared the cup, reminding the disciples of the significance of the sacrament. Anamnesis invokes in the believer who receives the body and blood of our Lord Jesus Christ the element of faith in receiving the gift of forgiveness and that of being strengthened in faith and grace. While celebrating communion, we affirm our faith and commitment to be ready to be broken as Christ was. Therefore, it is also important to keep the history and memory of the wounded and broken bodies alive, not with a sense of vengeance, but with a sense of commitment to justice, especially to those whose cries of despair still ring in our minds. The church cannot forget the experiences of people like George Floyd, especially

those that lit up a global movement for change and justice, in particular racial justice, in multiple contexts.

Significance of history as the source of body theology and embodied justice

We live at a time when the significance of history is denied, challenged, and attempts are made in some US states to eliminate anything that has to do with critical race theory from textbooks because it is deemed dangerous and unhelpful and would invoke unpleasant and troubling memories for children. Writing and remembering the stories of those dismembered, mutilated bodies, whose life breath has been expunged, must be written back into history to correct and redeem history as an important source of theology. Theological education in context cannot be transformative enough or life-giving if it ignores, silences, forgets, or erases the memory and history of broken and wounded bodies such as that of George Floyd from history. After all, the story of Christian faith is pivoted on the history of the story of Jesus' passion, death, and suffering on the cross and cannot be shunned on the claim that it would invoke unpleasant and troubling memories. God's love story for the world begins with life at creation, includes the whole body of the earth and humanity. This means that the memories and experiences of those who have been crushed or wounded in history cannot be forgotten or excluded at any time.

Contours of a body theology and embodied justice

Theologically speaking, the personified body of truth (aletheia) gets crushed, crucified, broken when it is crammed with lies and untruths that harm body, mind, and spirit. On the other hand, the nature of a body theology and embodied justice is to promote, protect, and enhance the image of God to its fullest, in a person, and therefore is in step with the primary dual commandment of God that is to Love God and to love one's neighbor as oneself. The presence of life breath in a person is a tangible sign and symbol of God's grace. George Floyd moved from being an individual to a collective, from an individual "body" to a symbolic representative of the victimized collective, a body crucified in the same way as Christ! The intersection of Chicago Avenue and 38th Street where George Floyd breathed his last has been renamed as George Floyd Street, to signify this transformation of a moment to a movement for justice. Rather than generating a memory around the inhuman way in which Floyd was robbed of his life breath, the attempt to rename and reclaim that space and site as one that transforms lives is the story of resurrection and hope. It is a story of being raised from the dust of shame and made into a sign of hope and solidarity for justice. This transformation of one body (George Floyd) to a collective global movement for peace and justice is an everyday story of resurrection and hope. A body theology and embodied justice is therefore in tune with the theology of the cross and resurrection. It is a theology of liberation and justice.

Bibliography

- Anderson-Rajkumar, E. "I Can't Breathe…Shifting the Knee of Racism-Casteism-Patriarchy off the Necks of Dalits." In *Quilling our Visions: Weaving our Dreams*, edited by V. Victor, 28–37. New Delhi: ISPCK, 2021.
- Douglas, K. B. *Resurrection Hope: A Future Where Black Lives Matter*. Maryknoll, NY: Orbis Books, 2021.
- Fletcher, J. H. The Sin of White Supremacy: Christianity, Racism, & Religious Diversity in America. Maryknoll, NY: Orbis Books, 2017.
- Ji-Sun Kim, G. and S. M. Shaw. *Intersectional Theology: An Introductory Guide*. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress Press, 2018.
- Veseley-Flad, R. *Racial Purity and Dangerous Bodies: Moral Pollution, Black Lives and the Struggle for Justice.* Minneapolis, MN: Fortress Press, 2017.

Solus Spiritus and Sola Experientia: Dalit Feminist Lutheran Pneumatology – Hope in Double Pandemic Context

Nelavala Gnana Prasuna

South Andhra Lutheran Church United Evangelical Lutheran Church in India (UELCI) Gurukul Lutheran Theological College and Research Institute, Chennai, India

Introduction

COVID-19 has made it almost impossible for many to imagine God as a presence, power, and hope in the world. Students in my class burst out: "Why did God allow these sufferings, especially on the poorest of the poor – the vulnerable Dalits?" "What is God doing in the COVID-19 context which killed millions and led millions to uncertainties?" On the other side, the Lutheran church in India is branded as "the church without the Holy Spirit." One of my relatives, an ex-Lutheran, advised me to get out of the Lutheran church because, he argued, "there is no Holy Spirit in that church." Anupama Hial joins me in saying that many "charismatic churches tag Lutheran pastors as 'pastors without Holy Spirit.'" But how do we measure the presence of the Spirit?

These questions are deeply theological questions. Thus, the theological problem I ponder over in this work is that the traditional doctrine of pneumatology is not sufficient to deal with the pertinent questions raised. Thus, reconstructing pneumatology from a Dalit feminist Lutheran perspective is urgently needed. While affirming the five *solae* (Christ alone, Scripture alone, faith alone, grace alone, and glory to God alone) proposed by Martin Luther, I add "experience alone (*sola experientia*)" and "Spirit alone (*solus Spiritus*)" as the basic foundational resources in constructing pneumatology.

I apply socio-analytical theological research in developing Dalit feminist epistemology. In past history, autobiographies were typically restricted to the dominant, elites and caste people, and the patriarchal men. Marginalized groups did not find space in the traditional histories. My own location as a Lutheran, a Dalit, and a feminist motivates me to engage with living stories of Dalit Lutheran women and document them in my research practice. This engagement creates countless possibilities to reproduce Dalit epistemology in reversing the existing order toward peaceful coexistence. I will give an overview of the double pandemic context in India in the first place and then discuss the theological deficiency of the doctrine of pneumatology. I also engage with the biblical narratives of Mary

and Elizabeth and the narratives of Dalit, tribal Advasi Lutheran women's experiences in constructing a Dalit feminist Lutheran pneumatology of hope. Finally, I offer implications of the work.

Double pandemic context in India: an overview

Heath Kelly defines a pandemic as "an epidemic occurring worldwide, or over a very wide area, crossing international boundaries and usually affecting a large number of people." In light of this definition, I define caste system as a pandemic, a psychological disease that spreads the virus of untouchability and dehumanizes millions of people. The 3,500-year-old caste system can be measured in the experience of over 200 million Indian Dalits' of untouchability, destruction, humiliation, poverty, being plundered, servitude, bondage, rape, massacre, violence of all kinds, arson, captivity, police brutality, and vilified. For B. R. Ambedkar, a leader of Dalits and an architect of the Indian Constitution, "caste is a state of mind. It is a disease of mind." Beryl Logan, who experienced caste humiliation says, "I requested my dance teacher to teach me dance during my schooling. But he insulted me saying, *Paraiyars* (untouchables) cannot learn dance and I cannot teach you." However, this provoked Beryl to learn dance by all possible means. She added: "Later on I took it as a challenge, learned dance, and started a dance school on my own, and I now teach dance, especially to Dalit children."

Such incidents happen in India on a regular basis. On top of it, the COVID-19 crisis doubled the struggles of Dalit, Tribal/Adivasi communities. *The New Indian Express* reported that "the pandemic has exposed the underlying social ills of untouchability and casteist attitude with the surging cases of caste and gender-based atrocities during lockdown." Newspapers often reported how violence increased against Dalits during the COVID-19 pandemic. In the case of Tribals/ Adivasis, Rev. Idan Topno says:

Tribal/Adivasi church workers have suffered the pandemic both financially and socially. Prior to the COVID-19 outbreak, church workers never received their salaries in full; for example, they were given fifty or sixty percent of the total recommended salary. The rest will be given as arrears when sufficient funds are available, which rarely happens. The COVID-19 pandemic has forced churches to shut down all places of worship, which affected the income of the church. Rural church workers suffered a lot and their poverty doubled.

Rev. Joshuva Peter, Executive Secretary of the United Evangelical Lutheran Church in India (UELCI) reiterates Rev. Topno's experience in saying that COVID-19 "is exposing once again India's deep economic divide with the country's poorest people being hardest hit by restrictions aimed at curbing the spread of infection." However, when some use the pandemic crisis to further brutalize Dalits and spread the caste virus, some see COVID-19 as an opportunity for people to triumph over evil. Aishwarya Rao says: COVID-19 made the entire world experience barriers to mobility. But in my shelter home, I, along with forty women living with physical disability, experienced team work, oneness, co-operation, co-ordination, empowerment, encouragement, and hope during this lockdown. Some of them lost jobs due to the lockdown, but they took it as a challenge to do some constructive work during this pandemic. Our women made approximately 60,000 masks in three months and distributed them to the needy on the streets and to those working in the unorganized service sector. The lockdown period helped our women and girls to learn to play music instruments and they performed shows to bring awareness about the spread of COVID-19.

The "Spirit of God has inspired us to be in communion with each other in providing hope to the needy besides being disabled."

With this brief assessment of the double pandemic context of COVID-19 and Dalit persecution, I now turn to discuss the theological deficiency of the doctrine of pneumatology.

Theological deficiency of the doctrine of pneumatology

The traditional doctrine of pneumatology is inadequate in providing a comprehensive understanding of the Holy Spirit. The deficiency of the doctrine is expressed in various ways by different people: "orphan doctrine" (Adolf von Harnack); "Cinderella doctrine" (G. J. Sirks); "forgotten God" (Francis Chan); "faceless" (Walter Kasper), and "abstract thought" (Aristotle); and so on. Elizabeth A. Dreyer notes that descriptors of pneumatology using the Greek term *pneuma* for Spirit included qualifiers such as "ambiguous, reticent, obscure, neglected, groping, abstract" to describe the Holy Spirit. However, in the past many have attempted to recover pneumatology.

Friedrich Schleiermacher argues that the third person in the Trinity has not been treated equally compared to the first two persons. He sought to restore this deficit by suggesting that the Holy Spirit should be brought out of the margins to the center. Feminist theologians have done tremendous work in recovering the doctrine of pneumatology. "Perhaps there is no other word in the Christian vocabulary which is in our day more confused or subject to dismayingly inadequate understanding than this word, Spirit," says Joseph Sittler. The theological deficiency in pneumatology leads the church toward dualistic attitudes, divisions, otherworldly mindsets, escapism, and creates a gulf between churches that elevate the Word over the Spirit and those that elevate the Spirit over the Word. Biblical narratives explain how the Holy Spirit is connected to everyday life. Jürgen Moltmann emphasizes that the power of the Spirit is grounded in the creation of Jesus in the womb of Mary, in leading Jesus to various places, and in accompanying him. In Moltmann's holistic pneumatology, Jesus experienced communion and the presence of the Spirit in his everyday life. Paul Tillich argues that all trinitarian aspects are grounded in God the Spirit.

The *Spiritus* is an experience of presence in creation, in individuals, and in the community, providing life, energy, hope, empowerment, joy, justice, and liberation.

On the one hand, the traditional doctrine overlooks and pushes to the margins the holistic work of the Holy Spirit. On the other, it forces people to separate the work of the Holy Spirit from everyday life to "supernatural" miracles and to "speaking in tongues." Both ways are dangerous and lead to a theological deficiency and inability to deal with the questions raised in the introduction of this chapter. Hence a reconstruction of the doctrine of pneumatology is indispensable.

Pneumatology: Dalit Feminist Reconstructions

Samuel Rayan, a liberation theologian and longtime campaigner for Dalit rights, drawing on the Shakti (power) tradition, portrays the Spirit as a "breath of fire" that comes "to enable us to re-create our earth, not to put us to sleep" and is present "not in ethereal euphoria, but in committed historical action." Indian Christian theologies use the term Shakti to describe the Holy Spirit as *Maha Shakthi*. For Pandipeddi Chenchiah, the Holy Spirit, the Shakti, is *mahashakti*, "the great power," or "the new cosmic energy." These expressions are powerful in recovering both the doctrine of pneumatology and the doctrine of human beings by bringing women from the margins to the center. Feminist pneumatological thinking begins with personal communion with the *Spiritus* and then moves to the communal expression of the Spirit's power. For Elizabeth Schüssler Fiorenza the movement of the Spirit is not limited and she insists that women throughout history have acted in the "power of the life-giving Sophia-Spirit."

For Indian feminist theologians, the Shakti, the *Spiritus*, is an experience and the creative life-giving power. They argue that the Hebraic traditions of the International (rûaħ, spirit), ceice (kāmāħ, presence), and naco (ħokmaħ, wisdom, spirit) and Greek traditions of πνεῦμα (pneúma, spirit), Σοφία (Sophía, wisdom), and παράκλητος (paráklētos, advocate) have allowed the possibility for feminine metaphors for God. For Aruna Gnanadason, Shakti is the source and substance of all things, pervading everything, a spiritual energy, the creative principle of the universe and an "essence of great religions in Asia." According to Stella Baltazar, the transcended Christ can be imagined as the embodiment of the feminine principle; the Shakti is the energizer and vitalizer. For Virginia Fabella, without women's perspective and their contribution to theology, all doctrinal formulations will be only half understood. Thus, I engage in reinterpreting the narratives of women both from the Bible and from the Indian Dalit/Tribal context from a pneumatological perspective.

Mary the contextual theologian

Feminist theologians have recovered Mary's image in numerous ways by questioning the male ideal of Mary, "the reduction of the feminine to the role of motherhood to gentleness, sweetness, nurturer, patient service, home, war refuge." They have attempted to reinterpret Mary as a *Spiritus*-filled, dynamic, faithful, courageous, revolutionary prophet, mother, disciple, and saint. Mary and the Holy Spirit were in constant and deeper communion. In fact, Mary is an agent and a cocreator in

the birth of Jesus. Yet, unfortunately, the New Testament pays very little attention to Mary. Paul's letters refer to Mary three times, however not by her name (Gal 4:4)"born of a woman" and "according to the flesh" (Rom 1:3; Rom 9:5). Mark refers to her twice, once as his "mother" (Mk 3:31-35) and then as "son of Mary" (Mk 6:3). Matthew refers to Mary at the conclusion of genealogy in the dubious company of four women, Tamar, Rahab, Ruth, and the wife of Uriah (Mt 1:16); in the infancy narratives (Mt 1:18-2:23); and when Mary and his brothers were searching for Jesus (Mt 12:46-50). John refers to her as "his mother" twice at the wedding at Cana (John 2: 5, 12) and several times at the crucifixion (John 19:25-27). However, her name is not mentioned in these events. Luke pays more attention to Mary and portrays her as a powerful woman.

Biblical narratives portrayed the Holy Spirit as a life giver. Along with the Holy Spirit, Mary becomes the cocreator of Jesus. The gospel story of the conception of the Messiah places Mary with the life-giving powers of her body at the heart of the Sophia-Spirit's approach to the world. The church councils declare that Jesus is fully divine and human. While Jesus received divine nature from the Holy Spirit, he received human nature from his mother Mary. But according to the Orthodox Christian belief, Jesus is God's beloved child irrespective of how he was conceived or from whom he received his blood and life. However, Elizabeth A. Johnson points to Mary's bearing the Messiah outside of patriarchal norms. She states that "the reproductive power of a woman and her role in the birth of the Messiah is affirmed outside the patriarchal structure."

That the magi find "the child with Mary his mother (Mt 2:11)" shows her human communion with the messianic child. Mary to givelife and birth to Jesus and said "yes" to the divine call. Her communion with the Holy Spirit extended to a communion bond with Jesus in her womb.

4.1.1. Mary the theologian of the reversal

Mary's multiple experiences and identities such as being poor, single, woman, Jewish, betrothed, and colonized enable her to give a passionate speech of hope and faith in the goodness of a God who defends the humble and lowly. These different identities of Mary engender a plurality of visions: visions of herself, her community, her culture, her nation, and especially the poor. Mary in her Magnificat praises God for God's faithfulness in elevating her position from a lowly status to that of the "bearer of Jesus." Richard Horsley interprets Mary as representative of "the lowly," not only in the spiritual sense but also in "concrete socioeconomic and political terms." Her speech is a clear vision of reversal of the existing order: the proud-mighty-rich and the lowly-hungry have been reversed. Mary in fact sets a tone of power reversal in her speech that runs through Luke's entire gospel, emphasizing the poor who are on the periphery, the downtrodden, sinners, women, widows, Samaritans, and children - and that they have been restored to life. She sounds like a dynamic social revolutionary and an advocate of justice. Mary's image as the Spiritus-filled spokesperson provides a substantial amount of hope to Dalit/Tribal Christian women in India to realize the power of the Spiritus within them to become spokespersons on behalf of the lowly.

The experience of the Sanctus Spiritus on the Day of Pentecost is an experience of wind, fire, life, empowerment, interdependence, and interconnection. The Spiritus connects itself to the powerless group of people in the images of wind and fire – life and energy (Acts 2:2-3). Mary is part of this group (Acts 1:14). Although canonical New Testament ignores the fact that Mary was an influential leader of the church, Bernadette J. Brooten's study of stone epigraphs with synagogue titles shows that Mary had titles such as "Head of the Synagogue," "Mother of the Synagogue," "Elder," and "Priestess." The "Protevangelium of James" mentions twice Mary inside the very holy of holies of the Jerusalem temple, presenting her with the qualities of a high priest who alone can enter the holy of holies (Lev 16 and Heb 9:7). The "Gospel of Bartholomew" depicts Mary at the temple altar, standing in front of the male apostles as their liturgical leader. She preached the gospel, led prayers, healed by laying her hands, exorcised, scaled, sprinkled water, and distributed books to women evangelists to take around the Mediterranean world. Jesus' followers remembered Mary as a new Abraham, a founder of Mary's movement that brought a structural transition from patriarchal to matrilineal Judaism. As per the rabbinic law, from the second century CE until this day, the offspring of a Gentile and a Jewish father is a Gentile, while the offspring of a Jewish mother and a gentile father is a Jew. As per the extra canonical sources, Mary the cocreator of the church led the church as one body into a Spiritus-filled communion and challenges the church today to be as one body in one Sanctus Spiritus.

Elizabeth: spiritus-filled theologian of reversal

Luke informs us that as soon as Elizabeth heard Mary's greeting, she was filled with the Holy Spirit (Lk 1:41); that Elizabeth and Zechariah were righteous before God, living blamelessly in keeping with all the commandments and regulations of the Lord; that they had no children and were getting on in years (Lk 1:5-7). Luke alone narrates the story of Elizabeth that has powerful gender ramifications for the church today. He first introduces Zechariah, Elizabeth's husband, as faithful, praiseworthy, and prayerful (Lk 1:5-25). Shockingly, Zechariah is punished for lack of faith and made mute by Gabriel. In the ancient world, speech was overwhelmingly associated with power and men, silence with weakness and women. Silencing Zechariah in Luke had gendered ramifications, says Brittany E. Wilson. Zechariah is muted throughout the nine months of Elizabeth's pregnancy whereas Elizabeth turns to be a spokesperson and continues to speak throughout the first chapter.

4.2.1. Spirit-filled Elizabeth: a theologian of faith affirmations

Luke dissociates Zechariah from elite masculine norms despite his status as a man and a priest by repeatedly drawing the reader's attention to Zechariah's muteness. The contrast between Zechariah's muteness and Elizabeth's outspokenness is specially sharpened by Luke as Elizabeth becomes a spokesperson for Luke's theology of reversal. Elizabeth makes faith affirmations: her pregnancy is God's doing (Lk 1:25) and God delights not in people's sufferings, but rather in taking

away their humiliation. She affirms that in her hopeless situation, in her inability to bear child, it is God that enabled her to conceive, and it is God who took away the disgrace that she had endured among her people. She makes a Christological affirmation, the first person in giving one of the Christological titles "the Lord" to an unborn Jesus (Lk 1:46-56). Mary was inspired by Elizabeth's faith declaration and confirms them in her Magnificat affirming that God "has looked with favor" on her humiliation (1:48) and lifts up all the humiliated (1:52). The *Spiritus* who filled Elizabeth challenges the church today to make faith affirmations that can mute the caste and gender structures that oppress the lowly and the poor.

4.2.2. Elizabeth – a prophet of blessing

Elizabeth, in communion with the *Spiritus*, gives a prophetic speech in the form of a spontaneous pronouncement of blessing directed at Mary and her unborn child (Lk 1:42-45). She blesses Mary thrice: for who she is, for who she bears, and finally for what she has done. Although Elizabeth was not exclusively called a prophet, her words are prophetic and she speaks with authority. In becoming a prophet by announcing Mary as the mother of "my Lord" (43), Elizabeth thus becomes the first person to give one of the Christological titles, "the Lord," to the unborn Jesus. She inspires Mary to speak in the same language of reversal (46-56). The prophetic speech of Elizabeth inspires the church to become a prophet of blessing in breaking the barriers that divide the body of the church.

4.2.3. Elizabeth's resistance brings restoration

Many interpret Zechariah's muteness as the means by which Luke gives voice to Elizabeth and Mary. Zechariah, a priest, a mediator between God and the people, would be expected to explain the new divine act. Instead, it is Elizabeth who, against the traditional norms, articulates what God is doing at the conception of John (Lk 1:24-25). Elizabeth decides to name her son, a privilege she was given because of her firm faith. Although her neighbors and relatives were trying to convince her and impose a name for her child (59-62), she resisted their influence and was firm to name him with the name given by Gabriel. Some argue that it was only after agreeing with his wife before the crowd that Zechariah recovered speech, his tongue set free, and began to speak and praise God. Elizabeth's resistance and firm faith made her an agent of restoration. Elizabeth calls the church to resist patriarchal influences and to become an agent of restoration.

In their personal communion with the *Sanctus Spiritus* Mary and Elizabeth became a communion in which they share each other's joy and blessings of God. In communion with the *Sanctus Spiritus*, they proclaimed God's justice and blessings in unity by reversing the existing order. A feminist, hermeneutical rereading of Mary and Elizabeth declares that the communion with the *Sanctus Spiritus* leads to a life-giving activity, providing hope to the hopeless, lifting up the lowly, and reversing the power structures in order to bring balance in the communion. I will narrate the *Spiritus*-filled Dalit, Tribal/Adivasi Lutheran women's experiences of

communion with the *Spiritus* that led them to declare their faith affirmations of hope during the double pandemic context.

Spiritus-filled experiences of Dalit/Tribal-Adivasi Lutheran women

4.3.1. The shakti the power of the Sanctus Spiritus alone

Ms Ranjita Christie Borgoary becomes a spokesperson for theologically trained women in transforming three Lutheran churches toward gender justice. As a result, the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Madhya Pradesh, the Christ Lutheran Church, and the Bongaigaon Diocese of the Northern Evangelical Lutheran Church have ordained women. Borgoary asserts that "this is the work of the Holy Spirit alone." During our conversation, she said that "some have left the church because of women's ordination, and I was also threatened by some people. Let what may come! I stand for gender justice. The Spirit of God alone gives me the power to speak out and to bring a change." She was also instrumental in electing two women vice-presidents for the UELCI.

Logan rescued several victims of sexual violence in and around Chennai with the support of the Positive Women Network. When asked, "What motivated you to take such a bold step?" she answered that "some Shakti leads me to be compassionate and bold and that Shakti is the Holy Spirit." She says, for example:

A young girl eloped with a boy she was in love with. To her surprise, he took her to a nearby place called Red Hills, in the suburbs of Chennai, and brought a gang of boys and they all raped her and left her on the roadside. When I was informed, I rushed to the spot, informed then police, filed a case against those who had perpetrated the violence, got her to be admitted to the hospital; after her recovery, I put her in a home for the destitute. And now she is continuing her studies. This is one young woman among many whom I have rescued and provided hope to. There were times I was threatened, but I am bold enough to take up these issues and move forward. It is the power of the *shakti* that inspires me and leads me to take a bold step even at the risk of my life.

The nationwide lockdown in 2020 resulted in a crisis in which the worst affected were migrant workers. Idan Topno says:

Migrants suffered a double pandemic during the lockdown. They were left without a penny, food, and jobs. In such a context, access to information was restricted in India as the media were asked to block information from the international community. Our friends and partners from all over the world were anxious about the situation and the vulnerable people. In these circumstances, I raised my voice along with my friends and began to collect information for reporting purposes about the actual condition of the people of Assam. These reports have helped international partners and different religious associations in India to extend their support to the needy in Assam. It was the Spirit of God alone who gave me strength to speak out, no matter what may come.

4.3.2. Indwelling Sanctus Spiritus of God

Borgoary explains that the Holy Spirit is *sarvantharyami* (an indweller) across the boundaries. She says,

As our government suddenly declared a lockdown, life became miserable for migrants. Crowds began to take shelter at various shelter homes, under bridges, on footpaths, and so on. We went to an Assam home in Chennai where a huge crowd of migrants stayed. There was man who was not a Christian and did not eat food for three days. When we gave him a food packet, tears rolled down his eyes and he looked at us and said, "I understand that you are Christians, and it is your God's Spirit which is in you that made you provide food for us." He thanked us with such a grateful heart.

"People from other faiths have recognized the Spirit of God in us. I believe that the Spirit of God indwells in him which made him realize the Spirit that indwells in us."

4.3.3. Miracle of the Spiritus: revisited

Ms Sripati Nirmalakumari redefines the concept of "miracle of the Spirit of God." She shares how her bold steps made her an ambassador of hope during the COVID-19 pandemic:

Jyothi was divorced fourteen years after her marriage on the grounds of a complaint that she could not bear a child. She has no parents; she took shelter in her relatives' homes as a servant. But she was ill-treated by her own people, and they doubted her chastity. As soon as I learned about her condition, I took initiative in arranging a marriage for her. I found a man, a widower with two daughters, who was working with Friends Missionary Prayer Brand (FMPB). Although it was difficult for the girls to accept her, as the elder daughter is in her teens, the situation got settled gradually and they accepted her. As per FMPB rules, spouses must be trained in the missionary work, thus Jyothi was trained for a few months, and she is employed by FMPB. Many have opposed my initiative and gave negative comments. It is with the power of the Holy Spirit who is in me (in Telugu, *parishuddatma undi*, feminine ending) that I was able to take up such a bold step and the miracle took place in the midst of the pandemic crisis. Although I am in my sixties, I moved around while following precautionary methods.

Anupama shares after seven years her experience of a miracle that happened in her life:

While I was in Germany, I was alone, and was diagnosed with sickle cell anemia disease which has no medicines. I was deeply depressed and felt as if I died in Germany, and I was so anxious about my family back at home. I was walking on the streets of Hamburg for hours together crying and crying. Then I went home and locked up myself and for three days I was praying to God. I felt I was healed. This is the seventh year after this happened. I never tested again, and I never used medicines. Miracles happen every day in our lives. The miracle is not a onetime touch event as a few say. It is a process. I feel that my faith and the power of the Holy Spirit have healed and protected me in my hopelessness.

4.3.4. Inspiration of the Holy Spirit leads toward hope

"Inspiration of the Holy Spirit continues and is not restricted to the Scriptures alone," says Aishwarya. She tells how she is inspired:

Wherever there is hope there is the Holy Spirit and wherever there is the Holy Spirit there is hope. The Holy Spirit is part and parcel of our everyday life. I am always inspired by the Spirit of God that moves me from hopelessness toward providing hope. COVID-19 has created a crisis in the lives of elderly women, especially women [with disabilities]. I have rescued two elderly women who had been abandoned: one was found at a railway station, the other, in a hospital. The visually impaired woman got lost when searching for jobs. The other one was abandoned by her son. The Holy Spirit led me to rescue them and restore them back to life. The power of the Spirit is always with me and inspires me in various ways.

The rereading of the narratives of Mary and Elizabeth and the voices of Dalit/ Trible-Adivasi Lutheran women and the biblical images declare that the indwelling Holy Spirit continues its work of life-giving, sustaining, and empowering, giving hope and joy, justice and liberation.

"Sola experientia" and "sola Spiritus": toward a Dalit feminist Lutheran pneumatology of hope and implications

Martin Luther's famous statement "sola experientia facit theologum" ("only experience makes a theologian") inspires me and provides me with a foundational resource in constructing a Dalit feminist Lutheran pneumatology of hope in this paper. Based on Luther's statement, I define a Dalit feminist Lutheran theologian as "the one who approaches the Scriptures from her own experience as a woman and from her experience as a woman in her community." We experience an awakening of the mind at certain times in our day-to-day lives in communion with the *Spiritus*. We feel the Spirit's inspiration in the creation. We experience hope in hopelessness. The experience alone makes us theologians. In this work, while giving importance to Martin Luther's five *solae*, I declare my faith as a Dalit feminist Lutheran theologian in the "experience alone" (*sola experientia*) and in the "Holy Spirit alone" (*solus Sanctus Spiritus*). The experience of personal communion with the Holy Spirit needs to be realized in the communion of the church as one body.

A Dalit feminist Lutheran pneumatology of hope affirms that: The Holy Spirit is in constant communion with people and creation; it is neither static nor fixed, but flexible and fluid; neither limited to a particular event, particular church, nor to a particular person — it is rather a process; it is an everyday communion both with the self and with the neighbors and the church as one body; communion with the Holy Spirit leads to power reversal, restoration, liberation and justice, hope and harmony; the Holy Spirit does not prepare people for the other world but to make this world the better world; the Holy Spirit leads people toward rejoicing and celebration; the Holy Spirit is beyond gender; the Holy Spirit is the Shakti the creator of life, sustainer and the protector of life.

5.1. Implications

- The *first* implication of the work is for the Lutheran communion of churches. The rich experiences of the Holy Spirit discussed in this work are neither confined to the masculine terminology nor to justification and sanctification alone. The Lutheran church in the world needs to take steps to correct the gender-insensitive theological language of the church that dehumanizes half of the population in the world. The traditional language that boxed the Holy Spirit in masculine images needs a conscious and constant deconstruction. Lutherans and especially Indian Lutherans need to be reassured and empowered with the affirmation that the Holy Spirit is in communion with them.
- The *second* implication of the paper is for Dalits, Tribals/Adivasis, and other marginalized Christians in India. The Holy Spirit as life, power, and hope is a powerful conception toward the empowerment of Dalits and all the marginalized.
- The *third* implication of this paper is to the entire Christian community. The fundamental language of the church that limits the Holy Spirit to "supernatural miracles" and to "speaking in tongues" needs a conscious correction as it leads people to become otherworldly.

Conclusion

While providing a perspective on the double pandemic faced by Dalits in India during the COVID-19 crisis, this chapter engaged in addressing the theological deficiency in the doctrine of pneumatology. In the process, while affirming *sola experientia* and *solus Spiritus* as the primary sources, the work attempted to reconstruct a Dalit feminist Lutheran pneumatology that provides hope by using biblical narratives of Mary and Elizabeth as well as the experiences of Dalit and Tribal/Adivasi Lutheran women.

The global health crisis was a wake-up call to the church to pay attention to the struggles of Dalits in the face of the caste virus that continues to dehumanize them and to the transforming, life-giving, and empowering power of the Holy Spirit that strengthens the church as one body.

Bibliography

- Bayer, O. Martin Luther's Theology: A Contemporary Interpretation. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 2008.
- Beck, T. D. The Holy Spirit and the Renewal of All Things: Pneumatology in Paul and Jurgen Moltmann. Eugene, OR: Pickwick, 2007.
- Brackney, W. H. The Spirit among the Dissenters: Other Voices in Understanding the Spirit of God. Eugene, OR: Cascade Books, 2019.
- Cohen, Sh. J. D. The Beginnings of Jewishness: Boundaries, Varieties, Uncertainties. Hellenistic Culture and Society Book 31. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1999.
- Dourley, J. P. Paul Tillich, Carl Jung and the Recovery of Religion. London: Routledge, 2008.
- Dreyer, E. A. Holy Power, Holy Presence: Rediscovering Medieval Metaphors of the Holy Spirit. New York: Paulist Press, 2007.
- Gebara, I. and M. Cl. L. Bingemer. Mary Mother of God, Mother of the Poor. Maryknoll, NY: Orbis, 1989.
- Gibbs, Ph. The Word in the Third World: Divine Revelation in the Theology of Jean-Marc Ela, Aloysius Pieris and Gustavo Gutierrez. Rome: Editrice Pontificia università Gregoriana, 1996.
- Johnson, E. A. "Mary and the Female Face of God." Theological Studies 50 (1989): 500–26.

———Truly our Sister: A Theology of Mary in the Communion of Saints. New York: Continuum, 2006.

- Jyotsna Melanchthon, M. "Theological/Biblical Interrogation of the Magnificat Unpacking the Myths of Power: God's Commitment to Justice." Unpublished paper presented at Advent for Gender Justice – A Virtual Symposium, organized by ELCA (24–25 November 2020).
- Kärkkäinen, V.-M. Spirit and Salvation. A Constructive Christian Theology for the Pluralistic World 4. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 2016.
- Kateusz, A. Mary and Early Christian Women: Hidden Leadership. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2019.

- Kelly, H. "The Classical Definition of a Pandemic is not Elusive." Bull World Health Organ 89, no. 7 (2011): 540–1, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC3127276.
- Kim, K. "Indian Contribution to Contemporary Mission Pneumatology." In Ancient World, Creation – 400 BC. Institute of International Studies, edited by R. D. Winter, 289–95. Pasadena: Wiliam Carey Library, 2006.
- Kwok, P.-L. Postcolonial Imagination and Feminist Theology, Louisville, KY: Westminster John Knox Press, 2005.
- Mariña, J., ed. The Cambridge Companion to Friedrich Schleiermacher. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- Moltmann, J. The Spirit of Life: A Universal Affirmation. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress, 1992.
- Neufeld Harder, L. Obedience, Suspicion and the Gospel of Mark: A Mennonite-Feminist Exploration of Biblical Authority. Studies in Women and Religion 5. Waterloo, CAN: Wilfrid Laurier University Press, 1998.
- Orevillo-Montenegro, M. The Jesus of Asian Women. New Delhi: Logos Press, 2010.

Pannenberg, W. 1991–98. Systematic Theology. 3 vols. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans.

- Reid, B. E. and Sh. Matthews, eds. Luke 1-9. Wisdom Commentary 43A. Collegeville, MN: Liturgical Press, 2021.
- Roberts Gaventa, B. "'Nothing Will Be Impossible with God': Mary as the Mother of Believers." In Mary, Mother of God, edited by C. E. Braaten and R. W. Jenson, 19–35. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 2004.
- ———"All Generations Will Call Me Blessed': Mary in Biblical and Ecumenical Perspective." In A Feminist Companion to Mariology. Feminist Companion to the New Testament and Early Christian Writings 10, edited by A. J. Levine et al., 121–9. Cleveland, OH: Pilgrim, 2005.

Ruether, R. Radford. Sexism and God-Talk. Boston: Beacon, 1983.

- Singh, S., ed. Ambedkar on Buddhist Conversion and Its Impact. Delhi: Eastern Book Linkers, 1990.
- Snook, L. E. What in the World is God Doing? Re-Imagining Spirit and Power. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress, 1999.

- Spencer, F. Scott. Salty Wives, Spirited Mothers, and Savvy Widows: Capable Women of Purpose and Persistence in Luke's Gospel. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 2012.
- Thompson, G. E. God Is Not Fair, Thank God! Biblical Paradox in the Life and Worship of the Parish. Eugene, OR: Wipf & Stock, 2014.

Tillich, P. Systematic Theology. Vol. 3. Chicago: University Press, 1951.

- Tyra, G. The Holy Spirit in Mission: Prophetic Speech and Action in Christian Witness. Downers Grove, IL: IVP Academic, 2011.
- Wilson, B. E. Unmanly Men: Refigurations of Masculinity in Luke-Acts. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2015.

The Spirit Renews: A Caribbean Perspective on Unity in Church and Society

Daniëlle Dokman

Evangelical Lutheran Church in Suriname Theological Seminary of the Moravians (Evangelische Broedergemeente) Suriname, Paramaribo, Suriname

In the year 1517, while the seeds of the Reformation took root and reformed the sociopolitical life in Europe, the first slave ships arrived in the Caribbean. It was called the "New World" from the time Christopher Columbus accidentally arrived on the shores of the Bahamas in 1492. With the planting of his sword on Caribbean soil, colonialism was embarked upon in this region. The indigenous people of the land were the first to be enslaved until the Dominican priest, Bartolomé de las Casas, proposed that Africans would be better suited for the harsh labor conditions in the colonies. The ships that followed carried many Africans, chained and beaten into an enslaved people, for one purpose: to achieve economic wealth through cheap labor. However, the cost was never cheap for the enslaved or their descendants. What was lost is more than freedom or rights, and to reclaim or regain it will take more than a shift in thinking.

The transatlantic slave trade lasted for over four hundred years and officially ended in 1863. It involved three main continents: Africa, Europe and the Americas. This massive legalized human trafficking system sparked the genesis of a new socioeconomic society within the Caribbean and the Americas, namely, a "plantation society." This was the bedrock of the economy of European and many other countries. Its effectiveness and longevity were sustained through three key imperatives that characterized that society and formed the consciousness of ten generations of African people in the New World. In this paper I first explore the imperatives of the plantation society and their influence on the Caribbean church; secondly, I analyze the imperatives needed for communion in church and society; and lastly, I describe ways in which the Spirit accompanies us on our journey toward and our being in communion.

Imperatives of the plantation society

The first imperative is uprootedness and displacement. This is seen in the demographics of the plantation society. The largest group of people living on the plantation were always uprooted and displaced or not in control of their original living spaces. The pursuit of riches, wealth, and other economic gains required manual labor. To

that end, more than ten million Africans were trafficked from Africa to the Caribbean and the Americas. Subjugating them on their own lands had proven a difficult undertaking. Their connectedness with their land and ancestorial legacy always echoed a strong sense of an unyielding posture. William Watty (1981) called it a calculated denigration and deliberate disorientation to erase the memory of Africa. It was hoped that their disconnection from their land and ancestry would make them easier to subdue. While many forcefully resisted, even choosing suicide over bondage, the second-generation Caribbean enslaved community had no reference to freedom or an ancestral song to echo self-worth and belonging. Uprootedness and displacement took a firm hold on those born in bondage.

The second imperative is division, and this has to do with the governance of the plantation. Knowing that the enslaved outnumbered them by many, the colonists intentionally deployed the "divide and rule strategy" to manage them better. The enslaved that survived the nightmarish journey on the ship, over the seas, were sold and bought as cattle and products on the market place. Those who spoke the same language or came from the same family and tribe were separated and sent to different plantations. This was intentional to limit the possibilities of uprisings on the plantations because without good communication it is difficult to unify and work together toward a common goal. Division was intentionally introduced to rule the plantation. While separation at the entrance was intentional, division was also structurally placed to keep other possible ways of unification at bay. The colonial patron chose leaders within the enslaved communities and inserted them in the hierarchal plantation system, right beneath their white masters. On the plantations in Suriname, these persons were called basjas. Their official function was to monitor and supervise the other enslaved, especially when their masters were away. However, more than often they were tasked with executing the dictated punishment upon their own community. They were given clothes to dress like the master and a whip to exercise authority over their own people. This, in and of itself, created division within the enslaved community because it is impossible to inflict violence upon a community and still be part of it. This was felt as a deep form of betrayal but at the same time, evidence of upward mobility and success. This false sense of power became the cause of both hatred and envy within the enslaved community. Many hated the basja, because he was a "sellout," but many wished to become him because life was seemingly better for him. The only way to become the *basja* was to please the master, which could only be done by showing indifference to one's own community. Upward mobility for enslaved persons or those of African descent had a high cost and that cost was to trade in their people for the clothes and speech of the White master. In the end, they and many before them were deceived with the illusion of a better life. What they received and their descents inherited was a ruthlessly divided community. Therefore, we must be vigilant and watch when division emerges among us, whether we are descendants of an enslaved community or not. As a faith community, we must always ask who benefits from our discord. For division is not an accidental occurrence but a necessary tool in the arsenal of a colonist to rule the plantation.

The third imperative is offering uniformity as the only narrative of success. The beatings, severe working conditions, and skin branding of the enslaved were lived realities designed to tell a narrative. To fill the vacuum left by the two previous impera-

tives, a false and destructive narrative was encoded into the fabric of the plantation society. The harsh treatment from the beginning of the journey, at the coast of West Africa over the ocean to the plantations, supplied a destructive narrative. It sought to erase any trail of self-worth and left uniformity as an appealing option to regain self-worth and a better life. All the beatings and difficult working conditions were to proclaim and continually repeat one false and disparaging narrative, namely, that black people were nothing but a commodity that needed to be ruled. The skin branding at the plantation was to further make this point that Black people were property to be sold and bought. The climax in this narrative is the most destructive. Many enslaved persons came to believe that the only way out of this reality was to please the colonizers or to become like them. The need to distinguish themselves from their own community and grow more in the likeness of their masters was an even real and pressing desire. This, of course, only emphasized the individualistic over and above the communal, so that further division was established within that society. Unfortunately, today this narrative continues to replicate in the Caribbean within free descendants of the enslaved and I suspect outside of the Caribbean as well. The skin bleaching phenomenon within our region may also be a result of this narrative, where uniformity with the colonist seems like the best path to salvation. However, uniformity, in this way, is division on its own. For enslaved persons to become like their masters, a certain level of self-disdain and community betrayal is needed. To this society, unity in divisiveness is a danger and cannot be accepted.

None of these three key imperatives were accidentally deployed, instead they were intentionally used to ensure the economic growth and comfort of the master and his household in the plantation society. While old and forgotten by many, these tools are still deployed in our present society. We live in an age of the greatest mis- or disinformation, and only a select few stand to benefit economically from our discord. Short conversations and engagements online have a great impact on the lives of real people and can shape long-term narratives for a great number of people. While there are positive narratives circulating online, the vast majority of negative narratives receive the most attention. Sometimes, they even have a life of their own, causing groups and individuals to lash out against each other. It is as if they all received "a digital whip" to execute justice and righteousness from the comfort of their homes, turning us all into *basja*s. The question is, who is the master? Behind every *basja* there is a master, orchestrating the scene to benefit from our discord. In this way we are still living in a plantation society that is fueled by our own uprootedness, discord, and creation of destructive narratives of each other.

The church in the Caribbean as agent of the plantation society

The traditional churches in the Caribbean came with and were established for the colonizers and consequently mirrored much of the plantation society. Therefore, it is expected that the churches would have functioned as agents of the plantation society and did so in their preaching, even to the enslaved community. In preaching and theological expositions, biblical texts were used to explain why slavery was acceptable and the natural state for Black people, while also adding

the image of the White person as the savior. By the end of the colonial period, there was a formed and ingrained theological anthropology of a person of African descent in contrast to the White person. This was an image and reality that the abolition of slavery could not abolish. Mainly because this false theological image of the White savior and the disinformed anthropological view of a Black person were ingrained in the Black community. The change in leadership of the church and the independence of the nation from the colonizer had little to no effect on changing the status quo. With these disinformed theological and anthropological references, the newly "acquired freedom" would only serve to replicate the same plantation society outline above and this is exactly what happened.

While the postcolonial Caribbean society condemned slavery, the same colonial imperatives were used to shape the new reality. The church in the Caribbean was an essential agent that molded this society. Many formerly enslaved people saw the church as a place they could extract status and prestige from. Going to church in the clothes of their previous masters and doing several other previously forbidden activities gave them a sense of equality they did not have before. Soon after, the church dictated what was acceptable wear, speech, and appearance in society for a successful Black person. Coincidently, it was always the wear, speech, and apparel of their previous masters. Traditional clothing, languages, and music were not welcomed in many churches and sometimes even prohibited. To this day creole languages are still seen as inferior and degrading in many places in the Caribbean, when spoken in public or with the elderly or seniors. This further cemented the uprooting and displacing process even for the descendants of freed slaves.

With no new theological developments in sight, the postcolonial Caribbean church returned to the old imperialistic idea of expansion and conquest. This time the expansion was not to take over lands for economic gains but to conquer cultures and other religions as converts for Jesus Christ. Postcolonial Caribbean society was much more diverse and pluralistic, making this conquest a more destructive and divisive endeavor. Anyone and everything that did not resemble the old colonial image was rejected, deemed less Christian, or seen as demonic. Unfortunately, in many places in the Caribbean, preaching still embodies this imperialistic idea and continues to contaminate our daily lives and political, social, and economic systems. A renewal in theological and homiletical insights is strongly needed to confront the grave injuries that the expansion and conquest preaching has done and is doing to Caribbean society. In many Caribbean countries political parties are formed based on ethnicity and religion alone. It is clear that time had not dissolved the old myths or the vigorous strive toward uniformity. With these advances, the church in the Caribbean has been more of an agent for the plantation society than the body of Christ, when in fact it should support, enlighten, and transform the people of God toward communion with God and with each other.

Imperatives of communion

The first imperative of communion is viewing communion as part of our personhood. To contest the oppressor's narrative, we must first unravel the skewed theological anthropology of the plantation society that seeks to insert divisive tendencies into our human nature. While the plantation economy dictates that human beings will always strive toward self-gratification, self-preservation, and ultimately create societies of self-isolation, the community of the Triune God teaches us differently. God is not first one God and then three persons for our benefit of understanding; rather, the personhood of God is intrinsically part of God's being. God creates, initiates, and maintains only through the Son and the Holy Spirit, making this the only way for human beings to approach God. Outside of this communion, there is no God. Therefore, God's being is located in God's inescapable communal personhood. If we apply our doctrine of the Trinity in the former sense, it will only serve as a complementary view of God in our theology. In the latter form, the Trinity serves as a way of understanding *our own being*, our relationship with God, and the entire created order. The goal of the doctrine of the Trinity is less about fully understanding God and more about understanding ourselves, how we were created and to what end.

The second imperative of communion is viewing freedom as part of the duality in our personhood. The Trinity presents us with a unique image of God (*imago Dei*) that seeks to illuminate and transform our current way of being into the one holy, catholic and apostolic people we profess to be in our creed. This unique imago *Dei* shows us a God with both personal freedom and an inescapable communal nature (the latter was discussed above). The constitutive relationship God initiates with all of us, through Christ in Baptism and sustained with the Holy Spirit, is the evidence of both God's personal freedom and inescapable communal nature. God's relationship with us is not born out of necessity, but out of God's free will. However, it could not be established outside of the works of the Son and the Holy Spirit. Thus, it accentuates the personal freedom and reciprocal relationship of God in the doctrine of the Trinity. This is the dual primordial nature in which we are created, regardless of race, ethnicity, gender, and geographical location. A person called by this Triune God through the waters of Baptism cannot exist outside of this communion or this duality. Trying to do so will require going against one's own nature and ultimately will result in a depraved state of being, where we can only affirm ourselves in contrast to ourselves or at the expense of the other.

The third important imperative for communion is trust. According to John Zizioulas a person is "ecstatic in terms of being 'a movement towards communion, towards self-transcendence.'" This, of course, is an exceedingly optimistic view of humanity, granted it had not been oppressed by our hundred years of slavery. Oppression and marginalization do not innately spark an ecstatic feeling toward being with others. They actually inspire the opposite of communion and unity. Communion and unity require trust to be fully operational, and this is precisely what is discouraged in a plantation society, through the second plantation imperative previously discussed. The livelihood of that society hinged on the distrust and profited from its discord and disconnection. This is why the plantation society can never produce persons but only individuals and strips all its inhabitants of their personhood and communal living. Persons fully conscious of their freedom and sacred communal nature are a great danger to the plantation. They cannot see the oppression and marginalization of others (human beings and the rest of creation) without feeling it deeply as if it is being done to them. They will never

sacrifice communal living for individual liberties, because it will intrude on their primordial dual nature (freedom and escapable communal nature). The reciprocal relationship would not allow them to see oppression and marginalization any other way or to participate in those injustices. Therefore, an important way to dismantle the plantation society and move toward the communion and unity of the church (at least for those oppressed) is to regain or reclaim our personhood.

The Spirit renews

The apostle Paul in his letter to the Romans records an essential statement: "For the law of the Spirit of life in Christ Jesus has set you free from the law of sin and of death" (Rom 8:2). Law and freedom are usually not compatible partners. Laws are meant to bring awareness to issues and regulate the way we exercise our freedom, especially in communal spaces. Yet, the apostle Paul is thoroughly convinced that the law of the Spirit of life, in this case the Holy Spirit, brought about freedom for those in bondage by sin and death. By examining this verse, it is clear that freedom cannot be given by one human to the other, instead it is an inherited raw gift of the Triune God to every being created in the imago Dei. True freedom can only be regulated and restricted by others, but never given by them. The word "law" in this verse also denotes a system of rules that regulates the actions of the Holy Spirit or Spirit of life. Therefore, this cannot be an arbitrary gift. If the movement of the Spirit is governed by the law of the Spirit of life, then reason and rationality are probably involved, albeit divine reason or rationality and perhaps far removed for our human capacity to understand. This statement also reminds us of an important fact: one can still be free even with rules and regulations in place. The word "law" can also by paraphrased as principle in this verse – a principal being that gives us a chain of reasoning and structure for our beliefs and helps form our behavior. Ultimately, rules and regulations will be formed out of principals, not to stifle our freedom but to help us conform our behavior to what we already believe. For this reason, it is important for us to recognize that the abolition of slavery did not give us freedom but rather lifted the horrendous regulations and restrictions upon the free lives of our ancestors. Behavior conformed to the principal of this freedom will still have to follow. This is the first step toward reclaiming our personhood and dismantling the three plantation imperatives unlashed upon our society. Wanting others to give us freedom is living in the false narrative of the plantation society.

Hence, the Spirit calls the church, particularly in the Caribbean, to an important task: to make communion both its mission and goal. In this day and age, this task requires the church to take on a more active role in calling for the abolishment of the horrendous regulations and restrictions marinated in racism and discrimination, while also persuading believers to conform their behavior in accordance with the law of the Spirit of life. The church will have to protest and advocate for the elimination of the atrocities in our midst, so that equality, equity, and a higher quality of life can be within reach of the oppressed and marginalized –not as another option or choice for the oppressed and marginalized to consider perusing, but as a natural part of a God-giving life that cannot be otherwise. Freedom is not a variety of choices

and options to do whatever we want, least we think that slavery was about people not being able to do what they wanted, as some would argue in the debates about COVID-19 vaccines or masks today. Absolutely not! It was that enslaved persons were precluded from meeting the desires and unlocking the potential given to them by God, because of uprootedness, displacement, and intentional division. This is a preclusion not only from knowing who we are but also from knowing who we might become, and it makes being and becoming an endless endeavor in nothingness for those who inherited the false narrative. The church, in its mission toward communion, must change (or at the least resist) the narrative sparked by the skewed theological view of humanity in the plantation society and help believers to reclaim their personhood and embody the three imperatives of communion: communal living, communal freedom, and communal trust.

Hovering hope

A continual point of celebration, even in difficulties, is the fact that we serve the God that creates ex nihilo (out of nothing). The God that can reshape every formless and empty space with the one hovering Spirit was introduced to us through the Old Testament writers in Genesis 1:2. No uprootedness, displacement, division, or destructive narrative is a match for this Spirit because it lingers on long after the sun sets on the plantation society. As a plow is used to prepare a field before sowing, the hovering Spirit of God plows through our reality, making previously hard and unfertilized ground into good soil. Even though uprootedness and displacement have left us detached from the earth, our sibling in God's creation, a conscience effort to reconnect with her, ourselves, and others is a step toward unity and communion. Although division was planted within our society, the realization that we persist as its antithesis is a step toward unity and communion. Even when false and disparaging narratives are dissimilated into the fabric of our society, the constant objection to clothe ourselves and our communities with this fabric preserves unity and communion: this society is entirely in contrast to the plantation society. For this is our hope and assurance: that communal living, freedom, and trust are gifts of the hovering Spirit that lingers over our society, reconnecting with all that is uprooted and displaced, unifying the divided and diverse pieces into a mosaic, and recalibrating destructive narratives into life-giving imperatives.

Bibliography

Boff, L. Trinity and Society. Eugene, OR: Wipf & Stock, 2005.

- Davis, K. Emancipation still Comin'. Explorations in Caribbean Emancipatory Theology. Eugene, OR: Wipf & Stock, 1990.
- Kärkkäinen, V.-M. *The Trinity: Global Perspectives*. Louisville, KY: Westminster John Knox Press, 2007.

- Roper, G. *Caribbean Theology as Public Theology*. Kingston, Jamaica: Jugaro Publishing House, 2012.
- Volf, M. *After Our Likeness: The Church as the Image of the Trinity*. Sacra Doctrina. Christian Theology for a Postmodern Age, Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 1998.
- Watty. W. W. *From Shore to Shore: Soundings in Caribbean Theology.* Kingston, Jamaica: Golding Print, 1981.

The Spirit Poured Out on All flesh. Perspectives for an Embodied Ecological Ecumenism of Hope

Claudia Jahnel

Evangelical Lutheran Church in Bavaria Ruhr-Universität, Bochum, Germany

"Pumzi" or the need for new narratives

Imagine this future: We are living thirty-five years after disastrous wars over water. The climate warming has led to the complete desertification of the earth. Unable to survive in the desert, the remaining human population of the world lives in a sterile compound, busy producing clean water and energy for survival.

This is the setting of the Afro-futuristic short movie *Pumzi*, by Wanuri Kahiu, a Kenyan feminist Afro-futuristic artist. In this restricted and highly technical environment, Asha, the young female protagonist of the film, dreams of a colorful tree in the middle of the desert, until, very promptly, her dream is interrupted by a message on the screen, "Dream detected: take your dream suppressants." The surveillance of the members of the community by its leadership extends into dreams, which are obviously considered as a threat to the social and political order. Nevertheless, the dream and the image of the tree unfold their power and remain the common thread of the film narrative. In disobedience to the management, Asha opens a package with a germinating seed, escapes the compound – with the help of an unnamed cleaning woman who is obviously on an even lower level in the community's hierarchy than Asha - and wanders across the desert until she recognizes the tree of her dreams from afar. When she reaches the place of the tree, there is only desert. But Asha plants the seed, waters it with the last water from her bottle and with her sweat, and protects the plant from the scorching sun with her own body. The last shot of the film shows "that the protagonist's bodily sacrifice eventually produces the tree of her dreams by transposing a blossoming tree onto Asha's prostrate body."

No word is spoken in the film. Verbal communication takes place exclusively in written form on the screen as if the members of the community were saving at *Pumzi*, which is the Kiswahili word for breath. But this saving of breath results in a maximum distance between the members of the community that appears like a collective of lonely and anonymous singularities deprived of the fulness of life. Their cohabitation represents the opposite of a community that defines itself as *one body* in which the members enrich each other, argue with, and depend on each other. The image of the blossoming tree at the end of the movie stands in contrast to the sterile atmosphere of the community compound and symbolizes life in abundance. But this abundance of interdependent life is yet only realized in the dream of the protagonist and, in the end, through the sacrifice of her "Black" female body.

Pumzi is an impressive example of the need for alternative stories in face of urgent ecological challenges. Environmental disasters like the desertification and water wars envisioned in *Pumzi* are a wake-up call. Not only nature is in danger. Body, spirit, and hope are threatened. Life in its fulness is destroyed. All the certainties that "we" have learned to trust in and to build our living on are called into question by the current and prospective consequences of the continuous exploitation of natural resources. Even the "we"– that I've introduced here so harmlessly – is challenged: Who, after all, is and represents the "we"? Are our societies as well as our churches not split up into many different interest groups? Is there still a bigger "we" that feels the need to communicate and wrestle with each other in spite of differences and necessary particularities? And what about those who are being excluded, muted, marginalized, who have no voice in the "we," yet are most vulnerable to climate changes? The "we" introduced by a scholar of the global North like me all too often contains a blind spot and fails to see the unjust imbalance of power and vulnerability.

I am taking Pumzi, an Afro-futuristic movie, as starting point for the motto of the LWF assembly because it invites us - as different and diverse as "we" are - to develop alternative stories and futures and to create life-giving scenarios of "one body, one spirit, one hope." In my context – Western academia – alternative stories and epistemologies are still undermined and neglected. Pumzi points to the violence of this narrow-minded knowledge production and uncovers the "one" dominant story that has furthered the current environmental calamity and that continues to be powerful. Even scientific insights into the "limits of the planet" and the "tipping points" are not able to destroy the conviction that we are experiencing "only" a climate crisis that eventually will pass as soon as more sophisticated means for the domination of the world are developed. This hegemonic story of the domination of the earth by technical means generated by "man" goes hand in hand with stories that intend to justify various forms of supremacy: man over woman, Whites over Blacks, modernity over tradition. For those who profit from this story there is no need to change the way of life in the face of the ecological and climate challenges at hand. But other stories continue to be marginalized. Leaning on Chimanda Ngozi Adichie I denote this dynamic the "danger of a single story." Critical scrutiny of the hegemonial story demands "combined competences." It calls for competences not only in natural sciences but also in epistemological and theological disentanglements. The Christian doctrine of the mastery of the earth, the body, the Spirit, and hope has heavily contributed to the "single story" that subdues the earth and causes intersectional forms of oppression. Alternative theologies and spiritualities are needed and already on the way.

What does it mean to have hope in face of the radical destabilization of life on earth due to environmental disasters? Jonathan Franzen observes that many Christians cultivate various forms of escapism and claim a hope that is out of touch with the reality at hand. The strategies range from denial of the environmental crisis to quietist attitudes holding that God will protect the earth and especially humankind as God had promised to Noah; other strategies cling to the belief in (new) attempts to dominate nature, for example, by geo-engineering, while some escape into depressions and neuroses. Yet, all these mechanisms cannot obscure the fact that human beings are, incurably, connected with this one world and earth. What does it mean to have a hope in the midst of the current calamities? *Pumzi* challenges us to develop an non-escapist story of hope – a story about how human beings will be able to deal with environmental change and all its disastrous consequences, not in a sterile and autocratic-dystopic way, but rather in a humane and solidary way, a way that is faithful to dreams and to the value of justice, and committed in particular to future generations and to the survival of earth.

"One Body, One Spirit, One Hope": In what ways can the theme of the 13th Assembly of the Lutheran World Federation further the creation of new stories of how we treat the earth and take responsibility for the next generation? How should the Lutheran story be rewritten in light of the cry of the earth and the ecological and social injustices? Following the trials of body, spirit, and hope, this article proposes that the challenges at hand call for an *embodied theology of the cross*, an *enfleshed pneumatology*, and a *theology of hope* that further creative uncertainty and the readiness to being surprised.

Yet before that, a closer critical look at the "single story" is needed because the "one" in the motto of the Assembly – "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope" – contains the temptation to again construct a seemingly universal, all encompassing "single story." There is a tension between "the one" (body, spirit, hope) and the "many," that is, between "unity" and "diversity," and this tension poses the question, How can the plurality of stories, experiences and worldviews be cherished and maintained without undermining a joint commitment to growing into the ability to respond to and engage in planetary solidarity? Again, *Pumzi* provides in-depth inspirations.

Challenging the "single story": interferences and hybridities

Within the context of African folklore, however, the transposition of Asha's body with a tree could imply a transferal of her spirit to the tree, which is a common theme across cosmologies from the continent. In this reading, Asha's spirit, while forever fixed to the tree, continues to engage with human life in meaningful ways – including rites associated with fertility, initiation, and religious customs (i.e. the significance of fig trees to Kenyan peoples, which are called *mugumo* by the Kikuyu and *oreti* by the Maasai, who consider them as symbols of the ancestors, life, and fertility. Additionally, according to Yoruba belief systems, the Iroko tree is inhabited by a vengeful spirit who causes misfortune to those who cut it down).

Pumzi is marked by diversity and hybridity. It creates space for particular regional stories from the Kikuyu, the Maasai, the Yoruba...as well as for the transatlantic story of the slave trade. This commercialization of the "Black" body is set in parallel to the commercialization of the earth as well as to the exploitation of women's bodies. Stories from the "past" intermingle with futuristic visions and ideas of what life shall be in the future. This is one of the characteristics of sci-

ence fiction in Africa, which, as the filmmaker Kahiu asserts, "has been a genre in Africa that has been used a lot for a long period of time":

If we think of science fiction as something that is fictitiously science or speculative fiction within a story then we've always used it. Because we've used botany; we've used etymology; the idea of the study of animals to tell stories or the idea of insects to tell stories or the idea of natural sciences using trees – that's all science fiction.

Kahiu contradicts various shades of the "single story": she opposes the idea that there is only one "Western" way to do science. Thus, she questions the assertion of the one triumphant "grand narrative," which is the narrative of the "scientific" and "secular" modernity. In emphasizing the hybridity and confluency of stories, *Pumzi* marks the end of the "great universal narrative" as well as of the one "normative center." This end is not portrayed as threat, rather, the Afro-futuristic movie stimulates the imagination of how the earth and world would look like if the various, and in particular the marginalized, cosmic-mythological narratives were to empower each other. Thus, *Pumzi* gives space for both the diverse particular traditions and identifications on the one hand, and for solidarity and joint action on the other.

One central aspect in *Pumzi* is, as noted, the identification of the suffering of the earth and the suffering of the "Black" female body. Pumzi was published more than ten years before George Floyd was killed on May 25, 2020. Brutal violence led to a "lack of oxygen" as "cause of death." Nevertheless, the parallelism of Floyd's last words "I can't breathe" and Pumzi, meaning "breath," is more than symbolic. The "logic" that leads to the exploitation of the earth and the logic that causes racist as well as gender-based violence are the same. Both acts of violence rest on binary presumptions that oppose "man" to nature, spirit to body, culture to earth, individual salvation to cosmic reconciliation and communion. These binaries go along with further dualistic modes of thought that construct differences and injustices with regard to race, gender, age and social "status." As Noel Sturgeon states, "Ideologies which authorize injustices based on gender, race, and class are related to ideologies which sanction the exploitation and degradation of the environment." The crossover identification of the sacrifice and survival of the earth with the life and the sacrifice of the female Back body in *Pumzi* is one out of many examples of this intersectionality that reaches far beyond our present times. The colonial gaze on the land lead, in "slow violence," to the exploitation of the earth and goes hand in hand with the exploitation of the colonized people and their bodies. Hence, since colonialism, the "Black" female body is subjected to colonial epistemological and physical violence, "romantically" depicted in closeness to the earth, yet exploited, like the earth, raped, sold, and consumed.

It is not by chance though that at present we observe at the same time the call for the decolonization of non-Western knowledge systems and a plurality of epistemologies, the cry for ecological, racial, gender- and age-related justice, an increased awareness for body-epistemologies and differences and – last but not least and crucial for the LWF assembly – the rise of a plurality of pneumatologies that bring the polyphony of the work of the Spirit into attention. This simultaneity underlines the striking interferences between ecology, spirituality, and epistemol-

ogy that become apparent in various ways today, for example, in the demand to take more seriously the body as a locus of knowledge generation, in postcolonial "body-politics of knowledge" or "ecologies of knowledge," or in the assertion that "indigenous" cosmologies are eco-friendly, non-dualistic, and "authentic." The hope and promise conveyed in these alternative, interferential stories is that the hegemony of the "single story" loses its power and that different futures and more sustainable and just knowledge cultures and narratives are possible.

It is important to keep these intersectional forms of violence in mind in order to prevent blind spots. The "Fridays for Future" movement in Germany was recently accused of "green racism." According to climate activists like Tonny Nowshin from Bangladesh or Vanessa Nakate from Uganda, "environmental racism" ignores that "Black lives" and "Black bodies" continue to be more exposed and more vulnerable to environmental changes. In the words of the famous scholar of Black theology, James Cone:

People who fight against white racism but fail to connect it to the degradation of the earth are anti-ecological – whether they know it or not. People who struggle against environmental degradation but do not incorporate in it a disciplined and sustained fight against white supremacy are racists – whether they acknowledge it or not.

Some forms of environmentalism tend to confuse eco-justice with a renewed Western-philanthropic nostalgia and desire for "untouched places" or appear in the very hybrid, topical, and diverse phenomenon of a "green spirituality." There is a variety of eco-spiritualities and eco-theologies with different historical and contextual backgrounds. Many bridge the different experiences of violence resulting from race, gender, class, and ecology. Yet, others become very exclusivist in their rediscovery of "sacred spaces and places." Germany, for example, witnesses a reawakening of a "brown" nationalistic esoteric movement – taking shape, for example, in the Anastasia movement that furthers a resacralization of the "German earth and soil." Related dynamics are stated from an African American perspective by Christopher Carter in his publication, *Blood in the Soil.* Environmentalism is thus by no means an innocent endeavor but rather calls for critical and thorough theological reflections.

Toward an embodied eco-theology of the cross

Wanuri Kahiu's *Pumzi*[...includes] depictions of the future that actively recycle[s] and work[s] through the past in ways that open up new ways of imagining and understanding diaspora, ecology, historical memory, and gender. More specifically, stories of girls in the future in magical and post-apocalyptical worlds draw from earth-focused images, symbols, and narratives that speak to trauma associated with (re)membering the past in both its symbolic and material manifestations. [...]From the sacred Nigerian grove of Osun-Osogbo to the lynching trees of the American South, ecological imagery holds a unique complexity for Africana historical memory – especially in relation to black women's bodies.

When reading *Pumzi* from a theological point of view, the resemblance of Asha's sacrifice to Christ's sacrifice on the cross – the tree – becomes obvious. As Amanda Rico's comment points out, Asha's sacrifice for the tree calls to mind the narrative of the lynching tree in the African historical memory which has also become a crucial symbol in African American Black theology. This composition clearly displays a political message against racism, ecocide, and violence against women. Any form of environmental romanticism is disturbed by a web of subversive narratives and lived lives. I recall one of the most well-known and touching "stories" of the "strange fruits," the dead bodies of persons of color, hanging in the tree that Abel Meeropol (alias Lewis Allen) wrote in the early 1930s:

Southern trees bear a strange fruit, Blood on the leaves and blood at the root, Black body swinging in the Southern breeze, Strange fruit hanging from the poplar trees. Pastoral scene of the gallant South, The bulging eyes and the twisted mouth, Scent of magnolia sweet and fresh, The sudden smell of burning flesh! Here is fruit for the crows to pluck, For the rain to gather, for the wind to suck, For the sun to rot, for a tree to drop, Here is a strange and bitter crop.

Meeropol's poem reveals the enduring power of the trauma of the lynching trees. The images resist any rational comprehension. Like in *Pumzi*, contrast and contradiction are the crucial means to emphasize that something is completely wrong and even evil. The tree that in the cultural memory of many cultures represents the source of life becomes the symbol of death. By using the blossoming metaphors of fruits and trees, Meeropol makes the sheer brutality of racism as well as the victims apparent and thereby creates space for agency and resistance.

It is certainly not surprising that we find the body much more involved in theologies that are developed in contexts where the marginalization and oppression due to bodily constructed differences heavily influences the lived experiences. The bodily experience of oppression, violence, pain, and liberation forces theological reflection about this experience. Latin-American liberation theologians such as Jaci Maraschin, Rubem Alves, Leonardo Boff, Marcella Althaus-Reid, Mayra Rivera or Ivonne Gebara have since the 1980s underlined that the material, real, suffering body must be the starting point for theological reflection. The famous liberation theological paradigm, "God's preferential option for the poor," implies the call to give a central place to bodily experience. The suffering body and the person who suffers is identified with the crucified God.

In his work, Jesus, the Crucified People, Choan-Seng Song goes one step further: God identifies himself in Jesus and his pain not only with the suffering of the people. Jesus' pain is rather *identical* with the pain of the people crucified by acts of violence. Jesus is one with the suffering people. The pain of the crucified people of Asia is therefore the embodiment of Jesus. In Jesus who is in pain we perceive people in pain [...]. In the suffering Jesus we witness the suffering people. In Jesus crucified on the cross we behold the crucified people. And the reverse is also true. In the people in pain and suffering, tortured and put to death, we witness Jesus tortured.

It seems that the attention to the body and an embodied theology of the cross strengthens the agency and identity of those who suffer oppression and violence. This said, it is necessary to mention that the cross has often perpetuated sacrifice, especially women, but also enslaved people were all too often told that carrying and enduring the burden of their cross is a Christian virtue. Suffering then is spiritualized and legitimized. The liberationist narrative of God's identification with the suffering people – in contrast – sets an emancipatory impulse without hiding the violence, injustice and brokenness. It thereby contributes to the memory of the lived experience of violence that is not only a memory in the bones - which, as in case of trauma, is beyond words – but an experience that demands to be taken seriously in public spaces. Ecofeminist theologians like Ivonne Gebara from Brazil or the African American theologian Elonda Clay, have developed this option for the suffering body further by linking it to the suffering of nature and emphasizing the interconnectedness of the body and its environment. This interconnectedness is not only an issue of critical intellectual reflection. It can also be sensed: Changes in the environment immediately affect the body and its orientation in the world. They can "pull the rug from under my feet" in the same way as it can be a salutary experience to "keep the feet on the ground." This form of a bodysensitive eco-theology that takes it starting point at the vulnerable and lived body and a "corporal epistemology" opens new avenues for a carnal eco-spirituality that I will sketch in the next section.

The currently intense discourse on an embodied eco-theology of the cross make one wonder about the specifically Lutheran, or even Luther's, contribution to an embodied theology. The core of Luther's theology of the cross was his search for a merciful God. Yet, his relation to God included the body and the senses. In his sermon "Against the Heavenly Prophets" he wrote:

For whether I want it to or not, when I hear of Christ, an image of a man hanging on a cross takes form in my heart, just as the reflection of my face naturally appears in the water when I look into it. If it is not a sin but good to have the image of Christ in my heart, why should it be a sin to have it in my eyes? This is especially true since the heart is more important than the eyes.

Luther's assumption that "the crucified Christ is an image located in man's interiority and that it has the power to destroy all other idols in the heart" reflects the pre-reformatory tradition of the *imitatio Christi* and the beginning of modernity with its idea of the "modern and individualized body." But the resonance between the image of the crucified Christ and the body also discloses an embodied experience of God's mercy. This revaluation of bodily spiritual experiences is confirmed by scholarly insights into Luther's deliberations on the two natures of human beings – the spiritual and the bodily – in *On the Freedom of a Christian*. Luther's

understanding of the human nature is far too complex to fit into the scheme of the *homo duplex*, Marion Deschamp states. Nevertheless, Lutheran studies "remain trapped" in a "dualistic body-mind division when speaking about Luther."

Luther's theology also contains an aspect that links to the abovementioned call for epistemic plurality. In his lectures on Paul's letter to the Romans, Luther, taking up a phrase from Augustine, characterizes the human being, in body terms, as being *incurvatus in se ipsum*, that is, as continuously spinning around the person and trapped in the person's perception of the world and of life. Justification, in contrast, comes from "outside" – *extra nos*: it shatters the self-devised knowledge system and follows a different logic and epistemology. Justification from *extra nos* could even be called a heresy, because it breaks with the logic, thoughts, and practices of human righteousness and orthodoxy. In Luther's context this was subversive and liberating.

Facing the challenge – posed by Christians and other faith traditions from different parts of the world as well as by the cry of the earth – to open the space for a variety of epistemological realities, the *extra nos* is a constant self-critical reminder to question hegemonial – and in particular disembodied – ways of thought. The precondition of an always reforming church is to continuously search for epistemologies that are subversive and liberating and further compassion with the whole creation.

Toward an enfleshed pneumatology

One of the greatest tensions in world Christianity are the conflicting epistemologies and world views. Some, like Philip Jenkins, intone even a "clash of epistemologies" and the "end of liberal Christianity" due to supposedly Southern-irrational epistemologies that threaten supposedly Western-rational epistemologies. One point at which these controversies break out is the Holy Spirit. The following paraphrased incident gives just one example of this:

On 17 September 2000, an African migrant congregation – the Kingdom Exploiters' Ministries – celebrated a church service in the smalltown of Viersen in Germany. This had been advertised throughout the town. The large Protestant church on the central market square was well filled. The many Germans present clapped and danced to the music, but remained silent during the sermon. A minority of Africans from different migrant communities, on the other hand, cheered the preacher.

After the sermon, the preacher called forward all those "who wanted to give their lives to Christ." There was some murmuring in the front row where I sat with two evangelical pastors of the congregation and some presbyters. A number of Germans sitting further back rose and left the church hall. Suddenly an African woman who was being prayed for fell over backwards, right in front of the German pastors. A commotion broke out. One of the presbyters rushed to the exit of the church, yelling for someone to call an ambulance and the police. Most of the Germans who were still in the church now left in a hurry. After some minutes, all who had fallen down got back up and appeared completely normal.

The preacher then brought the service to a quick end – in a now almost empty church. After the worship the congregation was split: The German pastors and the presbyters were shocked and angry, while the preacher, his wife, and some church elders did not understand the reaction of the German pastors and presbyters. They themselves were excited because the Holy Spirit had proven to be much stronger than they had expected. The preacher was not afraid of conflict: "This is normal whenever the Holy Spirit manifests," he said.

Claudia Währisch-Oblau, who reported this incident evaluates it as follows: "When paradigms simply collide, the result is not spiritual renewal, but embarrassment and anger. In the case described, neither side was willing to at least try to understand the other's point of view."

What caused this conflict? Is it the theological doctrine of how the Holy Spirit works or ought to work? Is it an intercultural clash of conflicting epistemologies: a Western-rational-disenchanted worldview versus a worldview that reckons with personified demons and spiritual powers? Or do the expectations with regard to the involvement of the body in religious experience differ?

Probably, it is a little bit of everything. Above all, the incident in Viersen illustrates how the increased intercultural encounters between the various forms of Christianity has led to the emergence of a variety of pneumatologies. These pneumatologies are marked by particular perceptions of the world, including in perceptions of nature and the earth. The perception of a Spirit-filled world can by no means only be found in religious traditions and cosmologies in Africa, Asia, and Latin America but also in popular religion and spirituality in Europe, Australia, or the United States. In spite of the difficulties that became obvious in the Viersen incident - to deal with different, and for both sides unfamiliar, understandings of "the spirits" and of the Holy Spirit – the pluralities of pneumatology are a tremendous enrichment. Yet, they again question the "single story," in particular the story dominant in Western Protestantism that the work of the Holy Spirit aims mainly if not exclusively at the mental reassurance of subjective religious certainty. I very much agree with Kirsteen Kim that current developments in philosophy and in the natural sciences support the idea of a spirit-filled world and that we therefore need a "theological conversation that does not marginalize those whose many-spirit cosmologies differ from predominant Western and elite one-Spirit worldviews."

The ecological challenges make this even more plausible, as they reveal the interdependence between human action and the environment and point to the resonance between the human body and other living bodies. An increased awareness of the polyphony of the one Spirit that is poured out on all flesh (Joel 2:28) – human and nonhuman bodies, all life, also beyond Christianity – supports the compassion for the multiplicity and intersectionality of stories and the dedication to biodiversity. "The Holy spirit does not isolate but brings into community and networks." An understanding that does not reduce the relation to the Holy Spirit to an I-You relation opens the space for other life-giving epistemologies. It is not by surprise that the Buddhist monk Thich Nhat Hanh states, "When we touch the Holy Spirit, we touch God not as a concept but as a living reality"; and, "When the energy of the Holy Spirit is in us, we are truly alive, capable of understanding the suffering of others and motivated by the desire to help transform the situation."

A pneumatology that perceives the Holy Spirit as enfleshed in the world has the potential to build bridges in the interreligious dialogue as well as in the ecodialogue and strengthens the ability for compassion for the suffering of the earth resonating with suffering of the body.

Toward a theology of hope: staying open to be affected in an ecological ecumene

Let's face it. "We're undone by each other [...]. One does not always stay intact. It may be that one wants to, or does, but it may also be that despite one's best efforts, one is undone, in the face of the other, by the touch, by the scent, by the feel, by the prospect of the touch, by the memory of the feel."

This contribution started with Kahiu's Afro-futuristic movie that, as Rico stated (see above, 55f.), imagines "stories of girls in the future" and struggles for the agency of the future generation as well as of the earth. The Christian symbol of the crosstree appeared in an unexpected place and in unexpected interpretation. The cultural memory of the cross is spun into the web of narratives and memories of the suffering of the earth and the suffering Black body. This identification can perpetuate suffering in a very problematic way. But it can also pose the challenge to reflect and develop an ecocritical ecumenical theology from the perspective of the cross that narrates the many stories of brokenness, fragments, suffering, the cry of people and of the life that is filled by the Holy Spirit. The Holy Spirit is emerging, nonlinear and non-monocausal. The Spirit has, in the words of Michael Welker, "the dual character of a personal, namely, context-sensitive and intentional instance – and of a structuring force-field, which operates in polycontextual and polyphonic forms."

This always transforming and recreating character of the Holy Spirit implies that we are "undone" as Judith Butler states in the quotation introducing this section. To be undone is not a deficit but a hope. To be undone – before other human beings, before God, and before the earth – contradicts the idea of an autonomous self and points to "being addressed" by others, including by the nonhuman environment. It refers to the ability to be affected by the contagious touch, smell, and feeling in resonance with our world, and to be open to experiencing God's Holy Spirit in the midst of the world. Leonardo Boff has vividly described the process of how we are enabled to speak of this hope:

We can speak meaningfully of God only when [God] emerges from within the experience of [humans], who [walk their] life's path together with [their] fellow [humans] and with the world. God does not hover above the world and must never be thought so or [...] outside the world. Rather, [God] meets us within the experience of [humans] and the world. [...] The cry of man [woman, and the earth] is only the echo of the voice with which God calls [us].

The Christian hope in the midst of the environmental calamities is an encouragement to stay undone, embodied and enfleshed, sensitive and creative in uncertain certainty, affected and encouraged in an ecological ecumene that includes human and nonhuman agents.

Bibliography

- Baumann, Wh. "Ecology and Contemporary Christian Theology." *Religion Compass* 5 (2011): 376–88.
- Boff, L. Erfahrung von Gnade. Entwurf einer Gnadenlehre. Düsseldorf: Patmos, 1978.
- Butler, J. Undoing Gender. New York: Routledge, 2004.
- Carter, Chr. "Blood in the Soil: The Racial, Racist, and Religious Dimensions of Environmentalism." In *The Bloomsbury Handbook of Religion and Nature: The Elements*, edited by L. Hobgood and Wh. Baumann, 45–61. London: Bloomsbury, 2018.
- Cone, J. H. "Whose Earth Is It, Anyway?" In *Earth Habitat: Eco-Injustice and the Church's Response*, edited by D. T. Hessel and L. L. Rasmussen, 23–32. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress, 2001.

———The Cross and the Lynching Tree. Maryknoll, NY: Orbis, 2011.

- Demos, T. J. *Decolonizing Nature. Contemporary Art and the Politics of Ecology.* Berlin: Sternberg Press, 2016.
- Deschamp, M. "An Embodied Theology. Body, Images and the Imagination of God by Luther." In Anthropological Reformations – Anthropology in the Era of Reformation. Refo500. Academic Studies 28. Edited by A. Eusterschulte and H. Wälzholz, 209–28. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 2015.
- Esposito, J. L. et al. *Religion and Globalization. World Religions in Historical Perspective*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.
- Evangelische Kirche in Deutschland, ed. *Pfingstbewegung und Charismatisierung.* Zugriffe – Impulse – Perspektiven. Eine Orientierungshilfe der Kammer der EKD für Weltweite Ökumene. Leipzig: Evangelische Verlagsanstalt, 2021.
- Fischer, H. et al, eds. Öko-Spiritualität. Ganzheitliche Lebensweisen auf den "Märkten des Besonderen." Rerum religionum. Arbeiten zur Religionskultur 4. Bielefeld: transcript, 2020.
- Franzen, J. Wann hören wir auf, uns etwas vorzumachen? Gestehen wir uns ein, dass wir die Klimakatastrophe nicht verhindern können. Hamburg: Rowohlt Taschenbuch Verlag, 2020.

- Hanh, Th. Nh. *Living Buddha, Living Christ. 20th Anniversary Edition*. New York: Riverhead Books, 2007.
- Haraway, D. "Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspective." *Feminist Studies* 14 (1988): 575–99.
- Hock, Kl. "L'art pour l'art? Interkulturelle Theologie als Praxistheorie epistemischer Dissonanzen." *Interkulturelle Theologie / ZMiss* 47 (2021): 88–111.
- Kahl, W. "Wunderheilungen, Todesflüche und Geist(er)besessenheit: Interkulturelle Verstörungen in der Begegnung mit westafrikanischen Christengemeinden." In Vom Verweben des Eigenen mit dem Fremden: Impulse zu einer transkulturellen Neuformierung des evangelischen Gemeindelebens. Studien zu interkultureller Theologie an der Missionsakademie. Vol. 9. Edited by W. Kahl, 87–96. Hamburg: Missionshilfe Verlag, 2016.
- Kim, G. Ji-Sun and H. P. Koster, eds. *Planetary Solidarity. Global Women's Voices* on Christian Doctrine and Climate Justice. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress, 2017.
- Kim, K. "Conclusion: The Holy Spirit in a Spirit-filled World: Broadening the Dialogue Partners of Christian Theology." In Interdisciplinary and Religio-Cultural Discourses on a Spirit-Filled World. Loosing the Spirits, edited by V.-M. Kärkkäinen et al., 243–56. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2013.
- Latour, B. *Kampf um Gaya. Acht Vorträge über das neue Klimaregime*. Suhrkamp Taschenbuch Wissenschaft 2350. Berlin: Suhrkamp, 2020.
- Lyotard, J.-F. *La condition postmoderne: rapport sur le savoir.* Paris: Éditions de Minuit, 1979.
- Margolick, D. Strange Fruit. Billie Holiday, Café Society, and an Early Cry for Civil Rights. Philadelphia: Running Press, 2000.
- Mignolo, W. D. and M. L. Tlostanova. "Theorizing from the Borders. Shifting to Geo- and Body-Politics of Knowledge." *European Journal of Social Theory* 9 (2006): 205–21.
- Nixon, R. Slow Violence and the Environmentalism of the Poor. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2011.
- Rico, Amanda Renée. "Gendered Ecologies and Black Feminist Futures in Wanuri Kahiu's 'Pumzi,' Wangechi Mutu's 'The End Of Eating Everything,' and Ibi Zoboi's 'The Farming of Gods.'" *Wagadu: A Journal of Transnational Women's and Gender Studies* 18 (Winter 2017): 81–99, http://sites.cortland. edu/wagadu/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2018/02/v18-gendered-ecologiesand-black-feminist.pdf.

Santos, B. de Sousa. "A Non-Occidentalist West? Learned Ignorance and Ecology of Knowledge." *Theory, Culture & Society* 26, no. 7/8 (2009): 103–25.

Song, Ch.-S. Jesus, the Crucified People. New York: Crossroad, 1990.

- Sturgeon, N. "The Nature of Race. Discourses of Racial Difference in Ecofeminism." In *Ecofeminism. Women, Culture, Nature*, edited by K. Warren and N. Erkal, 260–78. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1997.
- Welker, M. "The Spirit in Philosophical, Theological, and Interdisciplinary Perspectives." In *The Work of the Spirit. Pneumatology and Pentecostalism*, edited by M. Welker, 221–232. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 2006.

Finding Hope in an Eco-Anxious, Climate-Grieving World

Szabolcs Nagy

Evangelical-Lutheran Church in Hungary Lutheran University, Budapest, Hungary

What is eco-anxiety?

On the 6 October 2021, the *British Medical Journal* published an article that was popularized by British news site *The Guardian*, in which two public health experts drew attention to the increasing feeling of eco-anxiety. Although this area is only gaining recognition, the studies already suggest that eco-anxiety – the chronic fear of environmental doom – has a growing impact on the mental health of children, young people, and communities with the fewest resources. Those who experience the effects of climate change will be burdened not just with physical consequences (heat-related stress, asthma, allergies or even pandemics), but also "an increased risk of depression, low mood, extreme mental distress, post-traumatic stress disorder, suicide, and further deterioration in those with a history of mental illness."

The impact of eco-anxiety on mental health was highlighted by climate activist Greta Thunberg, who spoke about personal experiences of depression when learning about climate change:

When I was about eight years old, I first heard about something called climate change or global warming. Apparently, that was something humans had created by our way of living. I was told to turn off the lights to save energy and to recycle paper to save resources. I remember thinking that it was very strange that humans, who are an animal species among others, could be capable of changing the earth's climate. Because if we were, and if it was really happening, we wouldn't be talking about anything else.... So, when I was eleven, I became ill. I fell into depression, I stopped talking, and I stopped eating. In two months, I lost about ten kilos of weight.

Eco-anxiety contains a lot of diverse emotions, but one that is important to discuss is "climate grief" (also known as "environmental" or "ecological grief"). Grief is the emotional response to the sorrow of losing someone important. It is an emotion that has a vast impact on the well-being of the human mind and body. In most societies, however, grief is associated only with the pain of losing a loved one. It can be beyond imaginable that grief could be caused by anything else than the passing of an old friend, the move to another city, or the retirement of a celebrity. The term "disenfranchised grief" reflects on the experience where grief is disregarded. Cli-

mate grief is one form of this disenfranchised grief. It is the human response to the increasing annihilation of our environment: "the loss of species, ecosystems and meaningful landscapes due to acute or chronic environmental change."

The obstacles of reducing eco-anxiety: hyperobjects and ecoparalysis

To give one answer to why eco-anxiety and climate grief has such an enormous impact on mental health, but also can easily be neglected, we have to look at the work of philosopher Timothy Morton, who writes about "hyperobjects." Morton's theory says that there are certain objects in the world – what he calls "hyper-objects" – that are "massively distributed in time and space relative to humans." These phenomena can be apprehended by people, but not in their entirety. They are so monumental that humanity cannot fully grasp them. Climate change, for example, is a "hyperobject," and we can look at the specific data or its real-life impact, but it is still impossible to fully comprehend the scale of it. "the more data we have about hyperobjects the less we know about them – the more we realize we can never truly know them."

It may seem that this is what leads to apathy, but apathy would not prove ecoanxiety. Psychologists suggest that climate apathy is often a myth: "Many people in fact care too much, not too little, and as a result they resort to psychological and social defenses. [Australian environmental scholar Glenn] Albrecht calls this state ecoparalysis: people would like to be able to act, but find themselves paralyzed." This creates a seemingly never-ending cycle where people want to act, but find themselves unable to do it, so they feel more anxious, however a way to battle anxiety is to act, that leads to ecoparalysis, that deepens the anxiety, and so forth.

Hope as a theological response to eco-anxiety

What can be a response to eco-anxiety from a Christian perspective is a unique understanding of hope. From a biblical perspective, hope is deeply connected to the covenantal relationship between God and humanity. Trusting this covenant – that God will provide, will be merciful, and will fulfill all promises – is what gives hope to the nation of Israel. This hope is best articulated in the writings of the prophets who are preaching the message of a messiah who provides food, brings social and economic justice, but also restores creation by inviting us into a "new heavens and a new earth" (Is 65). When God arrives into this world in Jesus Christ, we see these prophecies come true: out of hopelessness comes hope. Those without an opportunity are given a chance. The outcast, the despised, the underestimated find home and dignity. For those who suffer from pain or illness, physical and spiritual healing is provided. The blind now see, the deaf now hear, and the mute now speak. Injustice becomes justice. The imprisoning feeling of shame, despair, and loss turns into freedom. Grief becomes joy. Death becomes life. The faith in Christ's resurrection is the center of all Christian life and gives hope to all people.

As followers of Christ, we must be witnesses to this resurrection, especially in an age when the ecological crisis affects everyday life.

Dietrich Bonhoeffer is one of the best-known Lutheran pastors and theologians of the twentieth century who tried to be a prophetic voice in Nazi Germany and was later executed in a concentration camp in 1945. He left behind an extremely rich literary legacy, of which one of the most well-known is the unfinished book called Ethics. Here, Bonhoeffer writes about the important duty of all Christians to be a witness to Christ, especially under the oppressive and harmful system of national socialism where the Christian churches failed to do so. In order to undergo a radical change, the church – and all Christians in it – would have to practice confession. The church has to repent her sins, her careless human behavior. In his Ethics, Bonhoeffer shows us a long list of examples of what the church has to confess, including being silent in face of the oppression and violence against the Jewish population in Germany. Repentance begins with oneself: what do we, our churches, our communities, our countries have to repent for? The apostle Paul admonishes the Ephesians to expose the "unfruitful works of darkness" in order that they become visible "for everything that becomes visible is light" (Eph 5:11-14). This passage invites us to expose everything that is considered harmful and evil. But this is not an end, it is a start. Letting the light in to overcome darkness, elevating the resurrection, is what gives all Christian an infinite hope. Only after repentance can the church start the work of adopting ecologically sound and important political, economic, and social stances and practices to transform and inspire a new "social imaginary."

A way forward: inviting all to a new social imaginary

What is a social imaginary? Humans create dominant and accepted worldviews of a society where they – through images, stories, and legends – not only get a better understanding of the surrounding world, but also form a vision of how the world *should* work and be designed: "a common understanding that makes possible common practices and a widely shared sense of legitimacy."

The Western idea of a social imaginary currently does not involve ecological consciousness. All the resources of the earth are subordinated to the capitalistic idea of progress and domination. This impression from an eco-theological perspective is developed in the influential article by the American historian Lynn Townsend White Jr., "The Historical Roots of Our Ecological Crisis," where he argues that the root of the ecological crisis is found in the Christian influences of the Western world. His argument is centered around the creation story found in Genesis where God commands humanity to have dominion over the created world (Gen 1:26-28). According to White, Christian thought used this text to create and claim an anthropocentric worldview where creation itself is an inanimate object. White's article is highly debated in the sphere of eco-theology, yet it started an important discussion around how Christianity played an important role in accelerating the climate crisis and not slowing it down. This raises the question, Can Christianity transform the social imaginary of communities and cultures to represent healing, light and hope?

For this new social imaginary Panu Pihkala suggests that Christianity should frame its message as "hope in the midst of tragedy." This means – in the same ways repentance is needed for a radical change of heart – confronting the reality of the losses that result from the climate crisis, confronting humanity's role in it, and building hope on it.

Pope Francis in 2015 released his second encyclical, *Laudato si'* (On Care for our Common Home), of which one of the central messages is called integral ecology, a holistic approach for understanding the environmental, social, economic, and political roots of the climate crisis given that it is all one problem. The entire mindset of integral ecology focuses on the acknowledgment that in God's creation "everything is interconnected," so that when we face real life tragedies and suffering caused by the rapid destruction of our environment it is not only a personal matter, but is inseparable from all creation and from God. A way to see hope is to realize the overarching connection between all living things, yet this is a challenging process for all humans to do.

Based on the works of German theologian Wolfhart Pannenberg, British theologian Stefan Skrimshire raises the important theological idea that Adam and Eve's attempt to know good and evil found in Genesis 3 is about them becoming independent from God and eventually denying their own mortality. As Pannenberg puts it:

The human failure to achieve independence of God has led to an attempt to pursue supposed self-interest not only relative to God but also relative to others and to other creatures. The result is a lack of peace in creation with the consequence that we cannot at once detect the lordship of the Creator in it.

The result of sin is that human condition is unable to see the interconnectedness in the created world in its full glory. Another biblical metaphor that Pannenberg lifts up is found in Romans where the apostle Paul uses the phrase "the whole creation has been groaning in labor pains until now" (Rom 8:22), expressing, besides suffering, that all creation is getting closer to a reality where God's kingdom brings a new heaven and earth. However, what is central to this expectation is the groaning, the crying out of the earth, the suffering. What all creation has in common, apart from the fact that God is the originator, is that all creation suffers as a result of sin. The suffering is what makes visible and describable the interconnectedness for which Pope Francis argues.

Suffering is not exclusive to the created world. God suffers too. The painful death of Jesus Christ shows the all-powerful God suffering in a fragile, weak body. Bonhoeffer describes God's suffering as a "vicarious representative action":

[Jesus'] entire life, action, and suffering is vicarious representative action. As the one who has become human, he indeed stands in the place of all human beings. All that human beings were supposed to live, do and suffer falls on him.

Extending Bonhoeffer's thought, we can say that Jesus stands in the place of the suffering of all creation. What is different is that God is willingly participating

in this suffering. It is a decision. And what is also a decision is the fact that the suffering and death of all creation is not the end.

The hope of eschatological resurrection is often seen in Christian thought as an unforeseen future. Eco-feminist Kathryn Tanner argues that eschatological thinking is "overly temporalized" and focuses too much on the impending rather than the current reality. That the resurrection is a fact is a reality in Christian life. That God is alive and present in all creation right now. Tanner turns this realization into action:

Even if one knows that all one's achievements will come to nothing with the world's end, one is obligated to act, simply because this is the only way of living that makes sense in the light of one's life in God.

Or how Martin Luther phrases it in his popular though unverifiable quote: "Even if I knew that tomorrow the world would go to pieces, I would still plant my apple tree." The closing of Pope Francis' *Laudato si*' is a prayer for our earth:

All-powerful God, you are present in the whole universe and in the smallest of your creatures. You embrace with your tenderness all that exists. Pour out upon us the power of your love, that we may protect life and beauty. Fill us with peace, that we may live as brothers and sisters, harming no one. O God of the poor. help us to rescue the abandoned and forgotten of this earth, so precious in your eyes. Bring healing to our lives. that we may protect the world and not prey on it, that we may sow beauty, not pollution and destruction. Touch the hearts of those who look only for gain at the expense of the poor and the earth. Teach us to discover the worth of each thing, to be filled with awe and contemplation, to recognize that we are profoundly united with every creature as we journey towards your infinite light. We thank you for being with us each day. Encourage us, we pray, in our struggle for justice, love and peace.

The use of wordage is focused on the present, not the future: on the healing of the suffering, not the impending doom. On justice, love, and peace, not oppression, neglect, and despair. On strengthening the idea that climate crisis is one, interconnecting issue and that caring for creation is a communal responsibility, not just a personal one. Finding hope in an eco-anxious, climate-grieving world is finding

the resurrected God present in the world and realizing that we, all humans, are not alone in our suffering and in our hopeful actions. This is a new social imaginary that the churches all around the world should represent.

Bibliography

- Bonhoeffer, D. *Ethics*. Dietrich Bonhoeffer Works VI. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress Press, 2005.
- Cunsolo, A. and N. R. Ellis. "Ecological Grief as a Mental Health Response to Climate Change-Related Loss." *Nature Clim Change* 8 (2018): 275–81.
- Dalton, A. M. and H. C. Simmons. *Ecotheology and the Practice of Hope*, SUNY Series on Religion and the Environment. Albany, NY: SUNY Press, 2011.
- Francis, Pope. *Laudato si'* (On Care for our Common Home). Encyclical letter. Rome, 24 May 2015, §70, https://www.vatican.va/content/francesco/en/encyclicals/ documents/papa-francesco_20150524_enciclica-laudato-si.html.
- Freedman, D. N. et al. *Art. "Hope,"* in AncBD. New Haven (CN): Yale University Press, 2008.
- Morton, T. *Hyperobjects Philosophy and Ecology after the End of the World*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2021.

Pannenberg, W. Systematic Theology. 3 vols. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 1991–98.

- Pihkala, Panu "Eco-Anxiety, Tragedy, and Hope: Psychological and Spiritual Dimensions of Climate Change." *Zygon*® 53, no. 2 (June 2018): 545–69.
- Skrimshire, St. "Eschatology." In Systematic Theology and Climate Change: Ecumenical Perspectives, edited by P. Scott and M. S. Northcott, 157–74. London: Routledge, 2014.
- Tanner, K. "Eschatology and Ethics." In *The Oxford Handbook of Theological Ethics*, edited by G. Meilaender and W. Werphehowski, 41–56. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005.
- Taylor, Ch. *Modern Social Imaginaries*. Brantford, ON: W. Ross MacDonald School Resource Services Library, 2008.
- White, L. T. Jr. "The Historical Roots of Our Ecologic Crisis." Science 155, no. 3767 (10 March 1967): 1203–7, https://www.cmu.ca/faculty/gmatties/lynnwhiterootsofcrisis.pdf.

The Body and Spirit of Reconciled Diversity. Unity beyond Uniformity, Hierarchy, and Anthropocentrism. A Sámi perspective

Tore Johnsen

Church of Norway VID Specialized University, Tromsø, Norway

"One Body, One Spirit, One Hope" – the theme of LWF's Thirteenth Assembly – reflects the message of "unity" as proclaimed in Ephesians 4:4. While a divine gift full of promise, history shows how the notion of Christian unity too often was distorted. This has not least been the experience of Indigenous peoples worldwide. A key insight on the matter was formulated in January 2011, as theological dialogue among representatives from the WCC Indigenous Theologians Network and the Commission on Faith and Order was facilitated in La Paz, Bolivia.

We have encountered difficulties in translation, not between English and Spanish, but between different discourses: one side [the Indigenous] hears the word "unity" in political terms associated with empire and oppression; the other hears "unity" as communitarian and organic reality, which celebrates and protects diversity and freedom. From an Indigenous Theologian's perspective "balance and harmony" comes closer to what St Paul affirms when he speaks of the integrity of the body in 1 Corinthians 12.12-31.

In Ephesians, unity is portrayed as a foundational reality pouring out of the Triune God, embodying cosmic (Eph 1:10), political (Eph 1:21), ecclesiological (Eph 1:22-23), and interethnic dimensions (Eph 2:14-16). We may ask: How is this *one body* good news to all? In what *Spirit* is the *diversity of the one body* held together? How is the *One hope* a promise to all humanity and all creation?

This chapter invites you to reflect on such questions, mindful of how they speak to realities within and beyond your own context. In what follows, the experience of the Indigenous Sámi of northern Europe is offered as a lens for constructive engagement with the assembly theme.

One body: unity beyond uniformity - reconciled diversity

The unity proclaimed in the Letter to the Ephesians refers to a gracious gift and transformative reality that we are invited to participate in. However, this message of unity can be distorted. It happens not least when "unity" is confused

with "uniformity." The usual result is that "the others" are forced to give up their uniqueness to conform to a dominant group.

In Norway, Sweden, and Finland, the Indigenous Sámi have been subjected to this conformity through long-lasting, harsh assimilation policies. In Norway and Sweden, the national minorities referred to as Kvens or Tornedalingar were also targeted. As far as the Sámi are concerned, this policy constituted a late phase of a much longer colonial history in which the Lutheran state churches were heavily involved. As a response to the Sámi movement and to Sámi voices and allies within the churches, the Lutheran folk churches of Norway, Sweden, and Finland have since the 1990s embarked on journeys of reconciliation in relation to the Sámi people. While starting out as an intra-church discourse, "reconciliation" has today become a public concern as parliamentarian or governmental Truth and Reconciliation Commissions (TRCs) are being implemented in all three countries.

These processes raise profound questions about the nature of the "one body": either we speak of it as an internal church matter (ecclesiology), or we relate it to the broader public realm (public/political theology). In both instances, the lesson learned seems to be that expansive projects of "unity as uniformity" violate the dignity of God's diverse creation. They contribute to the brokenness of the world, the brokenness that God in Christ through the Spirit seeks to restore in the one body of reconciled diversity.

The cost of unity as imposed uniformity: a personal narrative

From a Sámi perspective, this history is not abstract or distant. It is family history – in some homes passed on as a living memory, in others hidden under loads of shame. In any case, it is embodied as an intergenerational reality informing contemporary community life at various levels. My own story may illustrate the thousands of similar accounts that could be told among my people.

My Sámi father's short story about his school experience left a lasting impression on me as a young boy:

I only spoke the Sámi language when I started school. We were not allowed to speak Sámi, neither in the classroom nor in the schoolyard. It took me 3 years to fully understand what was going on. I have 5 years of primary school. That is my education. The only thing we learned was that our Sáminess was a hindrance when entering the Norwegian society.

His older sister, my aunt – who questioned why I bothered to take up the Sámi language again at the age of nineteen, and who was clear that nothing made her more angry than seeing Sámi politicians on TV – eventually approached me after I had acquired proper Sámi reading skills. She handed over several old Sámi magazines, saying, "Look what your great-grandfather wrote." I was amazed to see that, around the turn of the twentieth century, on Christian grounds, he formulated bold critiques of the Norwegianization policy now being implemented also by the church. Regarding the former parish priest, A. Bergland, he wrote: "He was in

many ways a good priest, but he was tough in crucifying the Sámi language. He only travelled around, preaching 'Norwegianize, Norwegianize the Sámi!'" Having outlined historical developments over four decades, my great-grandfather noted: "Those who are taken by force, begin to hate."

While raised in the Sámi diaspora, I returned to my father's community in Deatnu/Tana in 1998 as the local Church of Norway parish priest. The year before, a local action group called "No to Sámi Land" had mobilized in the municipality as a response to a new Sámi education plan being implemented in public schools due to pro-Sámi developments taking place. With support from the congregation board, I started to use some phrases in Sámi in every Sunday service. In some places, I felt the tension behind my back when a prayer for the Sámi Parliament was included in the intercession. Today, more and more of the youth are wearing the traditional Sámi costume in church on their confirmation day. In some instances, their great-grandparents were the last to use it.

While costly and painful lessons, I believe that profound spiritual insights can be drawn from experiences such as those rendered above. One is that the Christian notion of *one body* cannot mean unity as uniformity, rather, it must be about restoring the dignity and wholeness of God's diverse creation.

Sin as "self-curved inward on itself" – and God's laos as reconciled diversity

A reflection on Luther's definition of sin is relevant in this context. Building on Augustine, Luther defined sin as the "self curved inward on itself" (*incurvatus in se*). While primarily applied to individuals, the same dynamic seems to express itself on a collective level. Entire groups may become curved inward on their collective selves. This happens when "we" become turned inward on "us," "we" revolve around "ours," in ways devaluating or subjugating others. Such an inward-turned spirit may become structural and systemic, at times faceless, while still destructive or powerful.

On 24 November 2021, Archbishop Antje Jackelén offered a formal apology to the Sámi people on behalf of the Church of Sweden. While not using the term "sin," the apology was clearly modelled around Luther's definition of sin: "We [the Church of Sweden] have been *curved inward on ourselves* [my italics], we have not stood up to racism and abuse of power." The LWF's Thirteenth Assembly is given a stark reminder of the existence of collective and systemic sin by the fact that it is convened in Kraków, only 100 kilometers from the former Nazi concentration camp of Auschwitz-Birkenau. Collective and structural forms of sin exist also beyond its most extreme forms, at times hidden behind veils of benevolence.

By alerting us to distorted versions of the *one body*, Luther's notion of sin may point us toward healthy alternatives. The *one body* must be about *transcending* self-centered group mentalities imposing themselves on others. From a Sámi perspective, reconciliation must involve pushing beyond inherited monocultural notions of being folk churches (and nation states) in the Nordic countries. While much remains to be done, positive change is taking place. An ecclesiological

insight emerging in the reconciliation processes in the Nordic countries is that the *one body* celebrated in the church cannot be grounded in one $\xi\theta voc$ (*éthnos*, ethnic group) curved into itself. Rather, it must be corrected by the perspective of God's $\lambda\alpha\delta c$ (*la* δs , the common biblical term for "God's people"). In the New Testament the latter is transformed into the many $\xi\theta v\eta$ (*ethnē*) coming together as a *reconciled diversity* in the One Body of Christ (cf. Eph 2:14-18).

One Spirit: unity beyond hierarchical worldmaking and the bond of peace

If the *one body* is about unity in diversity, in what *Spirit* then is this diversity held together? The admonition given in Ephesians 4:3 – the verse immediately preceding the verse inspiring the assembly theme – suggests that "the unity of the Spirit" is manifested through "the bond of peace." But what do we mean by peace in the first place?

Peace beyond imposed hierarchy (Pax Romana)

In common speech – at least in English and Norwegian – "peace" tends to draw basic connotations from the "war/peace" dichotomy. Let us start our reflection here, before elaborating on alternatives. Often "peace" is talked about as the *absence* of something else, such as violence, disturbances, conflict, and so on. However, this notion of peace is insufficient since the absence of these things may be the result of subjugation rather than harmonious coexistence. The *Pax Romana* of New Testament times, for instance – that is, the peace that the Roman Empire had imposed on its conquered territory by military force – illustrates this point. The Roman Empire was without doubt a vast unity tolerating great diversity. Yet, the nature of the "bond of peace" holding its diversity together was more associated with "bondage" than with freedom. The bond of peace referred to in Ephesians 4:3 must be of a quite different nature.

This illustrates how even the notion of unity in diversity can be distorted in structural and systemic ways. An important reason, it seems, is that some worldviews recognize diversity as essential to the whole *by seeing diversity as hierarchically ordered*. Paternalistic, colonial, race-based, cast-based, genderbased, sexuality-based, and anthropocentric worldviews all share in this type of logic in some way or another. Framing "unity in diversity" on such hierarchical premises serves to mask power, facilitate exploitation, and naturalize inequality. Under such conditions, any talk of "peace" easily translates into expectations of accepting your own oppression.

The Lutheran tension between hierarchy and equality

It is nothing new that the Christian church struggles with navigating assumptions seeing diversity as hierarchically ordered. This is evident already in Ephesians in

its references to women and slaves (Eph 5:22-24; 6:5-8). Lutherans have wrestled with a tension between "hierarchy" and "equality," two somewhat competing themes in Luther's theology.

Luther's hierarchical perception of reality was arguably strong. Yet, it is seemingly his egalitarian intuitions that have been celebrated by recent generations of Lutherans. Since the Lutheran mainstream has shifted its emphasis from hierarchy to equality, some may think that critiquing the hierarchical legacy of Lutheran theology is unnecessary and constructed. I am not convinced. The negative effects of Lutheran hierarchical thinking are likely unequally distributed, depending on whether one is associated with the overside or the underside of history. In certain aspects, the Lutheran story needs to be retold.

A concern addressed in the literature on truth commissions is the need for challenging dominant national narratives. In this context, re-storying and rewriting national history in light of the experiences of those who have suffered injustices is considered integral to truth and reconciliation. In the historical confessional Lutheran states of the Nordic region, national narratives and Lutheran narratives were interwoven in fundamental ways. Settling the colonial history of the Nordic region will most likely also call for a rewriting of *dominant Lutheran narratives* from a Sámi perspective.

The introduction of the Lutheran reformation to Scandinavia in the sixteenth century coincided with the time of the intensified colonization of Sápmi. This is likely the first example worldwide of Lutheranism becoming a dominant force in the colonization of an Indigenous people. Lutheranism contributed to this colonization project in substantial ways, far beyond the ecclesial sphere since Lutheran *theology* shaped the legislations and modelled the states in profound and far-reaching ways. Framed in the language of the assembly theme, Lutheran notions of "unity" and "one body" had a strong negative impact on the Sámi for centuries, both within the religious and the political realms. The courts, for instance, executed Lutheran theology grounded in Old Testament logic and Lutheran demonology when Sámi *noaiddit* (shamans) were persecuted and sentenced to death in the justice system in seventeenth-century Denmark-Norway. Another problem concerns how the perception of the "bond of peace" was informed by Lutheran hierarchical intuitions of the world.

Luther's three holy orders doctrine framed the realms of family, church, and state according to a strict hierarchical logic, which in turn informed Luther's two kingdoms doctrine. Luther's explanation of the Fourth Commandment essentially instructed all citizens of the Lutheran confessional state to participate in all social realms according to the logic of subordination. It is true that Luther, based on the principle of "love of neighbor," prescribed responsible interaction from all actors within these hierarchies, including the powerful. However, the hierarchical orders of society were themselves beyond negotiation. Perceived as creation orders, God was assumed to act in and through them; and rebelling against them was ultimately a rebellion against God.

The peasant war of Luther's own time illustrates the point. While the peasants were partly inspired by Luther's teaching, Luther sided with the princes resulting in a brutal outcome. The only example of a violent Sámi uprising against

Scandinavian colonialism, the Kautokeino rebellion occurring on the Norwegian side of Sápmi in 1852, was inspired by the liberating message of Sámi-Swedish Lutheran priest Lars Levi Læstadius but suffered a similar fate. The legal settlement following it was a landmark event undoubtedly reinforcing the theologically sanctioned hierarchical order of society with respect to the Sámi. Moreover, since Lutheran theology over centuries in effect had contributed to the naturalization of the colonial interethnic hierarchy, this likely masked how this hierarchy became increasingly more justified on race-based grounds during the nineteenth century. Lastly, the lauded "human first, Christian thereafter" script of Grundtvigianism – emerging as a Nordic version of "manifest destiny" – seems in paradoxical ways to have motivated a more systematic policy and implementation of the race-based Norwegianization policy from around the turn of the twentieth century.

By enduing the colonizing power with divine legitimacy, all Sámi attempts to resist it involved, implicitly or explicitly, wrestling with the hierarchical order prescribed by Lutheran theology. The only Lutheran teaching standing out as an explicit resource invoked in the resistance against the Norwegianization policy (which also some in the Norwegian clergy took part in) seemed to be the teaching on God's word in the mother tongue. Among the magazines I received from my aunt, I came across a letter from 1896, signed by my great-grandfather on behalf of the parents of the local school district, written to the municipal school board controlled by Norwegian clergy. Apologizing for violating the call to show humility and obedience to their leaders, the letter pointed out the scandal of taking the Sámi language out of all subjects in school, including Christian education, and concluded:

Dear priests! If you knew how cold and arrogant you have appeared..., you would burst out into tears and think that we would rather be *united in a common peace* [my italics]. Dear Norwegians and soul shepherds! Repent, then, and turn to God, so that your sins may be wiped out, that times of refreshing may come from the Lord. God help us accomplish this, in our common Jesus Christ.

Confronted with the hierarchical spirit of the Norwegianization policy, the vision of the Sámi parents being "united in a common peace" in "our common Jesus Christ" turned into a call for repentance. So, if "the unity of the Spirit" is manifested through "the bond of peace," what is the nature of the *peace* of the Spirit?

The cosmological significance of "peace": harmony and balance, shalom, ráfi

Rather than thinking of peace as absence of conflict, peace can be conceptualized in terms of relational quality, which in the context of the *one body* is informed and sustained by the Spirit. The Old Testament notion of ψ_{a} and $(\tilde{sal} \partial m, peace)$ is helpful in the way it offers a substantial, holistic concept of peace, implying wholeness. This resonates with the Indigenous notions of "balance and harmony" referred to in the conversation in La Paz quoted at the beginning of this chapter. Keetowah Cherokee theologian Randy S. Woodley has pointed out deep-structural correlations between the biblical *šālôm* and "the harmony way" of Indigenous North America. Insights from Indigenous traditions are offered as a healthy correction to Western Christianity, in ways inviting reconciliation both with the earth and between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples.

The Sámi notion of *ráfi* (peace) reflected in North Sámi everyday Christianity may also contribute to a more substantial notion of peace. Here, *ráfi* emerges as a concept of cosmological significance, associated with two distinct but interrelated dimensions. First, *ráfi* reflects the concern for well-ordered relations to our immediate surroundings, based on an egalitarian oriented ethos informed by social logic extending to nature in its visible-nonvisible aspects. Second, the cosmological significance of *ráfi* surfaces in relation to *Ipmila ráfi* (God's peace), which in the enactment of local everyday Christianity tends to be reflected as an ordering power and source of cosmic peace. This is reflected in blessings invoking God's name.

If the North Sámi concept of *ráfi* is allowed to inform the conversation of "One Body, One Spirit, One Hope," two contributions may thus be suggested. First, it implies a *relational quality*, where peace reflects the enactment of an egalitarianoriented world. Second, it refers to the dynamic *world-ordering power of God* that we can call upon and entrust ourselves into.

This reflection of holistic notions of peace has already introduced our last question: How can the *One hope* be a promise to all creation?

One hope: unity beyond anthropocentrism – the unity of all things

Confronted with climate change and the current nature crisis it is urgent to push beyond anthropocentric interpretations of the Christian faith. Cynthia Moe-Lobeda has pointed out the relevance of the notion of sin as *incurvatus in se* in this context: "We [the human being] became a species 'turned in on itself,' oriented around humankind and human desire as the centerpiece of earthly reality to the detriment of all else." While providing an important perspective, a universalized notion of the human cosmological orientation must be avoided. The hierarchically ordered human/nature dichotomy reflected in this critique has dominated some cultural and philosophical systems, but not all. Its eventual global dominance is to a large extent the result of colonial projects. This comment resonates with a key concern informing the broader argument of this essay, namely, the need for decolonizing Lutheran theology.

The notion of *ráfi* (peace) in North Sámi everyday Christianity provides a window into an alternative *nature-centered Christian paradigm* in which social and natural realms are not separated. Local practices of "asking for permission" (also referred to as "asking for peace" in local discourse) before harvesting nature, putting up your tent, building a house, and so on, reflects an Indigenous tradition that has approached nature *as a social realm* filled with agents that must be approached with humility in nonintrusive ways. To "ask for permission" and to

"bless" in this context is about enacting well-ordered relationships reflective of the cosmological order upheld by *Ipmiláhčči* (God the Father; cf. Eph 4:6). While basically reflecting ordinary social logic applied on the rest of creation, official Lutheranism, which generally does not approach nature according to this logic, has typically misrepresented it as superstition, paganism, magic, and the like. The following anecdote is illustrative.

A North Sámi Christian woman from the Norwegian side of Sápmi told me how she had learned from her Christian mother to approach the task of cutting shoe-grass. When arriving [at] the wet land where this particular grass is growing, she first addresses the place notifying why she has come. Then she says a Christian blessing in the name of the Father and the Son and the Holy Spirit. Finally, she cuts a small bundle of grass, rubs her hands with it saying: "Please do not slit my hands." Then she is ready to start her work. She underscores to me that this is about approaching everything "with humility." A few weeks later, the same woman shares her traditional knowledge with a Sámi audience. At the end of her presentation, she tells what happened when sharing the above-mentioned custom with a group of Norwegian Lutheran priests. One of them had responded: "This is to worship creation instead of the Creator." The woman obviously found this offensive, so she addressed her Sámi audience saying: "So you understand. You have to be careful with whom you share these traditions."

We have reason to believe that similar stories could be told in Sweden and Finland as well, and the Church of Sweden's apology to the Sámi people formulates an appropriate response: "Within the Church of Sweden, Sámi spirituality was despised. Instead of recognizing the image of God in our Sámi sisters and brothers, we tried to make them in the image of the majority culture. [...] We did not see your obvious relationship with the Creator and with the lands. We did not understand that Sámi spirituality expresses itself in everyday actions."

The anecdote rendered above illustrates a feature emerging in my own doctoral research. Two different Christian cosmological orientations seem to be negotiated in the North Sámi Christian experience: one shaped by a long historical reception of Christianity filtered through the Sámi Indigenous tradition; another shaped by a Western reception of Christianity filtered through a Greek cosmological construct that basically saw the world as hierarchically structured, from pure spirit on the top to dead matter on the bottom. In my opinion, the former theological construct is no less Christian than the latter.

Confronted with climate change and the current nature crisis, we must affirm that the *One hope* is encompassing all creation. Indigenous intuitions of the world may inform Christian interpretations of the world in theologically significant ways, pointing toward the "unity of all things" – in which the Spirit creates, reconciles, and renews.

Bibliography

- Brueggemann, W. *Peace*. Understanding Biblical Themes. St. Louis, MI: Chalice Press, 2001.
- Fanon, F. The Wretched of the Earth. New York: Grove Press, 1963.
- Guðmarsdóttir, S. et al., eds. *Trading Justice for Peace: Reframing Reconciliation in TRC Processes in South Africa, Canada and the Nordic Countries*. Cape Town: AOSIS, 2021.
- Hagen, Rune BI. "Trolldomsforfølgelsene i Finnmark lokalitet, etnisk herkomst og kjønn." *Etter Lemkin Tidsskrift for studier av folkemord og politisk massevold* 1, no. 2 (2009): 78–91.

- Hiebert, P. G. *Transforming Worldviews: An Anthropological Understanding of How People Change*. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Academic, 2008.
- Johnsen, T. Jordens barn, Solens barn, Vindens barn: Kristen tro i et samisk landskap. Oslo: Verbum, 2007.

———"Folkekirke for hvilket folk?" in St. Dietrich et al. (eds.): Folkekirke nå. Oslo: Verbum forlag 2015, 72-81 (2015).

———"Negotiating the meaning of 'TRC' in the Norwegian context." In Guðmarsdóttir et al. (2021), 19–40.

——"'Menneske først, kristen så': Om teologi, rasisme mot samer og behovet for avkolonisering" ["Human First, Christian Thereafter": On Theology, Racism against the Sámi, and the Need for Decolonization]. *Kirke og Kultur* 126 (2021): 299–325, https://www.idunn.no/doi/10.18261/issn.1504-3002-2021-04-02 (2021b).

——Sámi Nature-centered Christianity in the European Arctic: Indigenous Theology beyond Hierarchical Worldmaking. Postcolonial and Decolonial Studies in Religion and Theology. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books, 2022.

- ———and L. M. Skum, eds. *Erkjenne fortid Forme framtid: Innspill til kirkelig forsoningsarbeid i Sápmi*, Stamsund, N: Orkana, 2013.
- Klaasen, J. *Narrative and Truth and Reconciliation*. In Guðmarsdóttir et al. (eds.), 157–168.

- Lehtola, V.-P. "Sámi Histories, Colonialism, and Finland." *Arctic Anthropology* 52, no. 2 (2015): 22–36, https://www.veli-pekkalehtola.fi/UserFiles/files/ ArcticAnthropology%20Lehtola%281%29.pdf.
- Lindmark, D. and O. Sundström, eds. *The Sami and the Church of Sweden: Results from a White Book Project*. Möklinta, S: Gidlund förlag, 2018, https://www.svenskakyrkan.se/filer/e25c2f34-2382-41a9-858c-e120646d9b7a.pdf.
- Lovejoy, A. O. *The Great Chain of Being: A Study of the History of an Idea*. New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers, 2009.

Mæland, J. O., ed. Konkordieboken. Oslo: Lunde forlag, 1985.

- Minde, Henry. "Assimilation of the Sami Implementation and Consequences." Gáldu Čála – Journal of Indigenous Peoples Rights 3 (2005), https://ir.lib.uwo. ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1248&context=aprci.
- Moe-Lobeda, C. D. *Resisting Structural Evil: Love as Ecological-Economic Vocation*. Minneapolis, MN: Fortress Press, 2013.
- Samuelsen, J. "Čala, mi i lokkujuvvum skuvllastivrest." Nuorttanaste 5, no. 4 (28 February 1903): 15, https://fennougrica.kansalliskirjasto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/89458/Nuorttanaste_02_28_04_1903. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

———"Girko ja Sami jodo birra." *Nuorttanaste* 8, no. 13 (15 July 1906): 50–51, https://fennougrica.kansalliskirjasto.fi/handle/10024/89563.

———"Girko ja Sami jodo birra." Nuorttanaste 8, no. 14 (30 July 1906): 54; https:// fennougrica.kansalliskirjasto.fi/handle/10024/89562.

Schilling, H. Martin Luther: Rebell i en brytningstid. Oslo: Vårt Land Forlag, 2016.

Sivertsen, D. Læstadianismen i Norge. Oslo: Land og Kirke, 1955.

- Sjöberg, L. M. "Kristendomens historia på norsk och svensk sida av Sápmi en översikt." *Teologisk tidsskrift* 9 (2020): 34–51.
- Solomons, D. et al. *Trading Justice for Peace, Perils and Possibilities*, in Guðmarsdóttir et al. (2021), 1–16.
- Tinker, George E. *American Indian Liberation: A Theology of Sovereignty*. Maryknoll, NY: Orbis Books, 2008.
- West, Helga S. "Renegotiating Relations, Structuring Justice: Institutional Reconciliation with the Saami in the 1990–2020 Reconciliation Processes of the

Church of Sweden and the Church of Norway." *Religions* 11, no. 343 (2020), https://www.mdpi.com/2077-1444/11/7/343/htm.

- Witte, John. "'God is Hidden in the Earthly Kingdom': The Lutheran Two-Kingdoms Theory as Foundation of Scandinavian Secularity." In *Secular and Sacred? The Scandinavian Case of Religion in Human Rights, Law and Public Space*, edited by R. van den Breemer et al., 56–84. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 2013.
- Woodley, R. S. Shalom and the Community of Creation: An Indigenous Vision, *Prophetic Christianity*. Grand Rapids, MI: Eerdmans, 2012.
- Zorgdrager, N. *De rettferdiges strid: Kautokeino 1852: Samisk motstand mot norsk kolonialisme*. Samiske Samlinger 18. Nesbru, N: Vett & Viten, 1997.

Appendix

Authors

- Anderson-Rajkumar, Rev. Dr Evangeline, Pastor of two Lutheran Congregations of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (ELCA) in Corydon (USA).
- Dokman, Rev. Daniëlle, Parish Pastor in the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Suriname (Evangelisch Lutherse Kerk Suriname; ELKS), Lecturer at the Theological Seminary of the Moravians in Suriname, Paramaribo (Suriname).
- Jahnel, Rev. Dr Claudia, Professor of Intercultural Theology and Corporeality at the Faculty of Protestant Theology; Ruhr-Universität, Bochum (Germany).
- Johnsen, Rev. Dr Tore, Associate Professor at KUN / VID Tromsø, Faculty of Theology, Diaconia and Leadership Studies, VID Specialized University, Tromsø (Norway).
- Koulagna, Rev. Dr Jean, Professor in Biblical Exegesis and Philology and Director of the Ecumenical Institute, Al Mowafaqa, Rabat (Morocco).
- Szabolcs, Rev. Nagy, Pastor in the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Hungary (Magyarországi Evangélikus Egyház), Consultant for the Bible Year at The Lutheran World Federation and PhD student at the Evangelical-Lutheran Theological University (Evangélikus Hittudományi Egyetem), Budapest (Hungary).
- Prasuna, Rev. Dr Nelavala Gnana, Professor in the Department of Theology and Ethics, Dean for Graduate Studies, Gurukul Lutheran Theological College & Research Institute, Chennai, Tamil Nadu (India).
- Sojka, Dr Jerzy, Professor of Historical Theology at the Chrześcijańska Akademia Teologicznaw Warszawie (Christian Theological Academy in Warsaw), Warsaw (Poland).

Editorial Team

- Lange, Prof. Dr Dirk G., LWF Assistant General Secretary for Ecumenical Relations, Professor of Worship at Luther Seminary (Fredrik A. Schiotz Chair of Christian Missions), St Paul (USA), Acting Director of the Institute for Ecumenical Research in Strasbourg (France).
- Lugazia, Rev. Dr Faith K., Dean of Faculty of Theology and Missions, University of Iringa (Tanzania).

- Rimmer, Rev. Dr Chad, LWF Program Executive for Identity, Communion and Formation (Switzerland).
- Zeeb, Rev. Dr Frank, Research Assistant, Institute for Ecumenical Research in Strasbourg (France).

Copyediting: Alexander Freeman-Diehm, Pauline Mumia.

